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STATE OF WASHINGTON  

GAMBLING COMMISSION  
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest”   
                                 Hampton Inn and Suites 

4301 Martin Way E.  Olympia, WA 98516 
November 15, 2018 

Please note, agenda times are estimates only.  Items may be taken out of sequence at the discretion of the Chair. 
Administrative Procedures Act Proceedings are identified by an asterisk (*)  

  
PUBLIC MEETING  

11:00 AM  Executive Session  -  Closed to the Public  
Discuss Pending Investigations, Tribal Negotiations, and Litigation  
The public meeting will reconvene at approximately 1:00 pm  

1:00 PM  
  
  
  
  

Tab 1  
  
  

Call to Order  
Welcome and Introductions                                                                                   Bud Sizemore, Chair  
 •  Moment of Silence                                                                                                                           
Consent Agenda 

• Minutes September and October 19, 2018                                                                       (Action) 
• *New Licenses and Class III Employees                                                                          (Action)  

*Class III Employees/Snoqualmie & Cowlitz Tribes                                                                (Action)  
 
Director’s Report                                                                                                David Trujillo, Director 

• House-Banked Cardroom Summary Report                            Assistant Director, Tina Griffin 
• Sports Betting Memo                                        Legal and Legislative Manager Brian Considine 

 
Tab 2 Nooksack Indian Tribe Negotiations                                                                                        (Action)  

The Honorable Ross Cline Sr., Chairman, Nooksack Indian Tribe  
David Trujillo, Director  

Julie Lies, Tribal Liaison  
 

Tab 3  Presentations 
• NIGA Conference 
• 4 Directions Conference 

Commissioner Chris Stearns  
Tab 4 *Presentation – Special Olympics of Washington                                                                                                                           

• 2018 Western Washington Enhanced Raffle Results                     
• 2019 Western Washington Enhanced Raffle Plan Request                                              (Action) 

Donna Khanhasa, Special Agent 
Tab 5 

  
  

*Defaults                                                                                                                                     (Action)  
• Joey D. Neal, CR 2018-00475 Public Card Room Employee Revocation 
• James K. Reese, CR 2018-00845 Class III Certification Revocation       

Haylee Mills, Staff Attorney             
RULE UP FOR FINAL ACTION  

Tab 6 
  

*Petition for Rule Change Soft Count                                                                                      (Action)                  
Tina Griffin, Assistant Director  



Tab 7 *Rotary Club of Everett                                                                                                              (Action) 
• Request to Exceed 40k raffle prize 

Tina Griffin, Assistant Director 
Tab 8 *Petition for Review, Motion for Reconsideration                                                                   (Action) 

• Yen H. Trinh CR 2016-01284, CR2016-01569 
• Dung N. Huynh CR 2016-01285, CR2016-01570 

Brian Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager  
Potential Closed Session 

  Meeting Adjourn  
Upon advance request, the Commission will pursue reasonable accommodations to enable persons with disabilities to attend 
Commission meetings. Questions or comments pertaining to the agenda and requests for special accommodations should be 
directed to Julie Anderson, Executive Assistant at (360) 486-3453 or TDD (360) 486-3637. Questions or comments pertaining to 
rule changes should be directed to the Rules Coordinator (360) 486-3473.  

Please silence your cell phones for the public meeting 
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 Gambling Commission Meeting Minutes 
Davenport Grand Hotel 333 W. Spokane Falls Blvd.  Spokane, WA 99201 

Public Meeting  
Thursday, September 13, 2018 

Commissioners Present:                                      
Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 
Chris Stearns 
Ed Troyer  
Alicia Levy 
 

Ex Officio Members Present:  
 

Staff Present: 
David Trujillo, Executive Director; Amy Hunter, Deputy Director; Tina Griffin, Assistant Director; Brian 
Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager; Julie Lies, Tribal Liaison; Julie Anderson, Executive 
Assistant; Heather Songer, Public Information Officer and Matt Kernutt, Assistant Attorney General.  
 
Thursday, September 13, 2018  
Public Meeting Call to Order 
Commissioner Stearns called the Gambling Commission meeting to order at 1:07 p.m. and welcomed 
everyone to the Davenport Grand in Spokane. Commissioner Stearns asked for a moment of silence.  
 
There were 27 people in attendance.  
 
Tab 1 
Consent Agenda: 
Commissioner Troyer moved to approve the consent agenda as presented by staff. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0  
 
Director’s Report 
Director Dave Trujillo addressed the Commissioners with a brief report. He recounted that he recently 
attended the Continuity of Government Operations Tabletop Exercise. One of the topics of the meeting 
was that in the event of a major earthquake the Cascadia subduction zone which is the fault line from 
British Columbia to California would seriously damage Western Washington. The State of Washington 
has been conducting these types of training for years to prepare for a state wide emergency. All state 
agencies are required to have a Continuity of Operations Plan (COOP) to ensure that they can operate 
after a disaster, whether man-made or natural. 
 
There were no questions from the Commissioners. 
 
Tab 3  
Assistant Director Tina Griffin presented the materials for this tab.  The National Rifle Association 
(NRA) Foundation is requesting approval to offer raffle prizes to exceed $300,000 during their license 
year which will end on September 30th, 2018. They are also requesting this for their next license year 
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which will begin October 1st, 2018 and run through September 30th, 2019. The Washington State 
Gambling Commission rules require that licensees get Commissioner approval prior to offering prizes that 
exceed $300,000 during the license year. The NRA submitted a plan for the Commissioners to approve. 
Brad Kruger, NRA Western Region Director and Michael Herrera, NRA Field Representative for 
Washington presented their plan. 
 
Vice Chair Patterson arrived during this presentation. 
 
After the presentation Vice Chair Patterson asked if any of the funds raised by their organization would 
be used for political purposes, for lobbying or for the purpose of promoting their stated political agenda. 
Mr. Kruger stated no and went on to explain that the NRA is a 501C3 charity and as such they do not 
have anything to do with politics. 
 
NRA Foundation Raffle Prize Request for License Year 2018 
Vice Chair Patterson asked for public comment. There was no public comment. 
 
Commissioner Troyer moved to approve the NRA foundation to offer raffle prizes in excess of $300,000 
for the remainder of their license year ending September 2018. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the motion.  
The motion passed.  4:0 
 
NRA Foundation Raffle Prize Request for License Year 2019 
Vice Chair Patterson asked for public comment. There was no public comment.  
 
Commissioner Troyer moved to approve the NRA foundation to offer raffle prizes in excess of $300,000 
for the license year beginning October 1st, 2018 ending September 30th 2019. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the motion.  
The motion passed.  4:0 
 
At this time, the Commissioners reviwed  the Consent Agenda. 
 
Commissioner Levy moved to approve the Snoqualmie Tribe and Cowlitz Tribe of Indians Class III 
Gaming Employees Certifications as presented. 
Commissioner Troyer seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioner Stearns abstained. 
Commissioner Sizemore was not available for the vote. 
 
Tab 2  
Defaults 
Legal and Legislative Manager Brian Considine presented the default materials.  

David K. Duong, CR 2017-01131, Public Card Room Licensee & Class III Certification Revocation. 
Commissioner Stearns asked if this would affect his ability to be employed at all Washington casinos. 
Mr. Considine said it would. Commissioner Troyer asked if he was accused of cheating. Mr. Considine 
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stated that while off duty Mr. Duong allegedly lost a large wager at a table game and became violent and 
allegedly took a thousand dollars’ worth of chips. It was unclear whether or not he tried to give the chips 
back. Commissioner Troyer asked if Mr. Duong was given a hearing. Mr. Duong asked for a hearing and 
was granted one, but failed to appear. Director Trujillo stated that the Tribal Gaming Agency took initial 
action on this case in January 2018.  Vice Chair Patterson asked if Mr. Duong was in the audience and 
he was not. There was no public comment. 
 
Commissioner Stearns moved to revoke the Public Card Room License and Class III Certification for 
Mr. David K. Duong. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 4:0 
                                                                                                                 
Dung D. Phan, CR 2018-00006, Public Card Room Licensee Revocation. 
Vice Chair Patterson asked if Mr. Phan was in the audience and he was not. There was no public 
comment. 
 
Commissioner Levy moved to revoke the Public Card Room License for Mr. Dung D. Phan. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 4:0 
               
Bank Tavern, CR 2018-00201, Punchboard/Pull-Tab Applicant Denial.     
Vice Chair Patterson asked if there was a representative in the audience and there was not. There was no 
public comment.  
 
Commissioner Troyer asked if the Gambling Commission notified the new owners. He also asked if 
staff offered any education to the new owners as to what their responsibilities were as a license holder. 
Director Trujillo stated that the agency attempted multiple times to contact the new owners to rectify the 
situation. Mr. Considine reiterated that this is a license denial not a revocation. The applicant would have 
been provided an opportunity to settle the case while paying back revenues it received during unlicensed 
activity.  Ultimately, the applicant is not contesting the denial because they did not request a hearing.  
 
Commissioner Troyer moved to deny the Punchboard/Pull-tab application. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 4:0              
 
Quinton D. Jordan, CR 2018-00539, Public Card Room Licensee Revocation.      
Vice Chair Patterson asked if Mr. Duong was in the audience and he was not. There was no public 
comment.                                                                 

Commissioner Stearns moved to revoke the Public Card Room License for Mr. Quinton D. Jordan. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 4:0 
 
Tab 4  
Petition for Rule Change Soft Count 
Assistant Director Tina Griffin presented the materials for this tab. Ms. Stacy Hess from Great 
American Gambling Corporation has requested a rule change to allow a card room to have two people, 
instead of the currently required three people, conduct a soft count if the licensee uses an automated bill 
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counter. The Commission accepted the petition for further discussion at the March, 2018 public meeting. 
Director Trujillo stated that it would allow another tool to be utilized by licensees and mirrors what 
tribes are able to do under National Indian Gaming Commission procedures.  
 
Vice Chair Patterson asked for public comment.  Victor Mena, Owner of Washington Gold Casinos 
stated that he did not send in any documentation or correspondence in favor of this petition. He said he 
does not see an issue with the process. His primary concern is surveillance. He mentioned that at his 
properties, they have surveillance operators document the actual count in real time and verify with vocal 
communication by the counters and the verifiers. He uses this method as a check and balance for to catch 
mistakes with strap errors and mishandling of bills.  Overall, he says this is positive for the industry 
especially for the smaller card rooms. By his estimation, this could eliminate one body in the count room, 
saving a $1000 per payroll.  
 
Commissioner Stearns moved to file the rules for further discussion, as presented by staff. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the motion.  
The motion passed. 4:0 

Tab 5  
Spokane Youth Sports Qualification and Program Review 
Special Agent Supervisor, Bill McGregor and Phil Healen, Executive Director of Spokane Youth 
Sports Association (SYSA) presented the materials for this tab. A review was conducted of the SYSA 
financial statements for the calendar year of 2016. SYSA is a nonprofit organization and holds a Bingo 
and Punchboard/Pull-tab license with the commission. They are currently in the new fee structure, but 
previously, they were licensed for $4 million in bingo gross receipts and $700,000 in Punchboard/Pull-tab 
gross receipts. In 2016, the organization had 16 active voting members, three officers and 13 trustees. 
SYSA is an organization that provides sports activities for youth where everyone plays, develop skills, is 
taught good sportsmanship and learns the value of being a team player. In 2016, the organization spent 
over $807,000 serving youth participants in the Spokane area in their programs. During the review of the 
SYSA, numerous steps were taken to ensure that they are a bona fide nonprofit organization functioning 
in accordance with their Bylaws and continue to meet the definition of a charitable or nonprofit 
organization under the RCW. Based on the review agents determined that Spokane Youth Sports 
Association was in compliance with all applicable WACs and RCWs during their fiscal year ending 
December 31, 2016 and is suitable for continued licensure.   
 
Tab 6  
Administrative Case Presentation 
Assistant Director Tina Griffin and Special Agent Tyson Wilson presented the materials for this tab. 
In 2017 the Regulation Unit handled 465 administrative cases. The Licensing Unit has three agents and 44 
years of combined history with the Washington State Gambling Commission. In 2017-18 they worked 39 
Administrative Cases. The Regulation Unit has 24 agents with 375 years of combined service, 10 
Certified Fraud Examiners and three Certified Public Accountants. The Regulation Unit worked 465 
Administrative Cases in this time period. Vice Chair Patterson asked for public comment. There was no 
public comment. 
 
Tab 7  
Criminal Case Presentation 
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Assistant Director Tina Griffin and Special Agent in Supervisor, Bryce Mack presented the materials 
for this tab. In 2017 the Criminal Enforcement Unit worked 286 cases. Supervisor Mack showed footage 
from several criminal cases including footage from the Cockfighting bust in Port Orchard recently. Vice 
Chair Patterson asked for public comment. There was no public comment. 
 
Public Comment 
There was no public comment. 
Day one adjourned at 3:30 pm. 
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Gambling Commission Meeting Minutes 

Davenport Grand Hotel 333 W. Spokane Falls Blvd.  Spokane, WA 99201 
Public Meeting  

September 14, 2018 
Commissioners Present:                                      
Bud Sizemore, Chair 
Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 
Chris Stearns 
Ed Troyer  
Alicia Levy 

Ex Officio Members Present:  
 

 
Chair Sizemore called day two the September Gambling Commission Meeting to order at 8:00 and 
announced that the Commissioners would immediately go into executive session to discuss pending 
investigations, tribal negotiations, and litigation. The public meeting to reconvene at 10:00 AM. 
 
The public meeting reconvened at 10:10 AM, Chair Sizemore welcomed everyone to the Davenport 
Grande and the meeting began with tab 8. 
 
There were 11 people in the audience.  
 
Tab 8  
Petition for Review Dung N. Huynh and Yen H. Trinh 
Assistant Attorney General, Greg Rosen and Attorney for Petitioners, Justin Jensen presented the 
materials for the tab. Mr. Jensen announced that he would be presenting both cases for the plaintiff at 
the same time.  
 
The Commissioner’s heard both sides of the case and deliberated in closed session for roughly 20 
minutes.   
 
When the Commissioners reconvened, the Commissioners affirmed the initial orders and concluded the 
hearing; Chair Sizemore thanked everyone for their time. 
 
Tab 9  
Agency Request Legislation 
Legal and Legislative Manager, Brian Considine presented the materials for the tab. The Gambling 
Commission also supported similar legislation during the 2018 legislative session, testified at Senate and 
House hearings supporting the creation of a self-exclusion program, and had discussions in its public 
meetings about creating a self-exclusion program during the 2018 legislation session. The bill would 
authorize the Gambling Commission to create rules establishing a state-wide self-exclusion program for 
licensed card rooms and also create a process for Tribal gaming operations to voluntarily opt into the 
program.  The Gambling Commission will develop the process and scope of the program through rule-
making and have until June 30, 2021 to finalize the rules for the program.   
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The Gambling Commission discussed additional elements to be added to the agency request self-
exclusion program legislation. Mr. Considine went over each option related to the proposed additional 
changes.  
 
Agency Request Legislation - OPTION 1  
The effect of this amendment was:  
(1) Change to section (d) that clarifies the legislative intent for the self-exclusion program;  
(2) Change to section (d) that clarifies Commission’s authority to enforce provisions of the program;  
(3) Addition of section (e) that provides that individuals registered with the self-exclusion program do not 
have a civil cause of action against the State, Gambling Commission, or gambling operator if there an error is 
made in the enforcement or operation of the program; and  
(4) Addition of section (f) that provides that personal information collected, stored, or accessed under the self-
exclusion program can only be used for the administration of the program.  
 
Commissioner Patterson moved to approve Option One as presented by staff.  
Commissioner Stearns seconded the motion.  
The motion passed. 4:0 
Commissioner Troyer was not present for the vote.  
 
Agency Request Legislation - OPTION 2  
The effect of this amendment is:  
(1) Incorporates all changes in Option 1; and  
(2) Addition of a new section (d) (iii) that states any individuals registered with the self-exclusion program but 
continue to gamble at locations they are excluded from entering are not entitled to keep any winnings from 
their gambling activities and all winnings are forfeited to the state problem gambling account or a bona fide 
charitable or nonprofit organization that provides problem gambling services or helps increase awareness 
about problem gambling.  
 
Commissioner Stearns moved to approve Option Two as presented by staff.  
Commissioner Levy seconded the motion.  
The motion passed. 4:0 
Commissioner Troyer was not present for the vote.  
 
Option three would have added a new section that requires the Commission to submit a report to the 
Legislature updating it about the operation of the self-exclusion program. There was no vote for option 
three. 
 
Agency Request Legislation - OPTION 4  
The effect of this amendment is:  
(1) Incorporates all changes in Option 1; and  
(2) Addition of a new section (d)(iii) that directs the Commission to consider the provisions of the statewide 
self-exclusion program as elements to be negotiated with federally recognized Indian tribes pursuant to the 
Commission’s compact negotiation authority under the Gambling Act.  
Commissioner Levy moved to approve Option Four as presented by staff.  
Commissioner Patterson seconded the motion.  
The motion passed. 4:0 
Commissioner Troyer was not present for the vote.  
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The amended bill language incorporating Options 1, 2, and 4 keeps all the original intent of the first draft 
of the legislation and now provides that individuals registered with the program do not have a civil cause 
of action against the state, Commission, or gambling operators for any error or omission made in the 
enforcement or operation of the program. Additionally, Individuals registered with the program will 
forfeit any winnings they earn or receive while registered with the program and the Commission will 
define by rule how the forfeited monies are distributed to the state problem gambling account and/or a 
charitable or nonprofit program gambling organization.  
  
The Commission will also consider the provisions of the program as elements to be negotiated with 
Tribes.  Lastly, personal information collected, stored, or accessed under the program may only be used 
for the administration of the program and information obtained by the Commission under this program 
will be exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act.  
 
Public Comment 
Maureen Greeley, Executive Director of the Evergreen Council on Problem Gambling addressed the 
Commission and said she wanted to say that their board of directors has not yet weighed in on this topic, 
because the window of time was too short. They don't meet that often. And like all of the Commissioners, 
they are a very diverse group of board members who will bring a lot to the discussion. They are meeting 
on October 2nd right after the gambling industry summit at the Four Directions Conference. 
Commissioner Stearns is presenting at the conference as well as Brandy Crow. Ms. Greely invited the 
Commissioners to attend the conference. She said she really hoped everyone will attend because she 
thinks what comes out of this will help inform some of the decisions around what goes into this self-
exclusion program. Experts from British Columbia, from GameSense, Massachusetts, and Oklahoma, 
including Las Vegas, are presenting at this summit on these very topics. That said, she thinks defining 
what's meant by program is really important because there is very specific language around what the 
Gambling Commission will do to manage this program the self-exclusion tool is vital. She commended 
the Commission for moving this forward in a way that it's never been moved forward before from a 
statewide example. She also said because most people do not self-exclude even after they've gone to see a 
counselor. They self-exclude when they are in dire straits, and often don't even know that treatment is 
available. Her hopes are that the Gambling Commission can better define what is meant by a self-
exclusion program and who will be involved. 
 
Dolores Chiechi, Executive Director of the Recreational Gaming Association appreciated the 
discussion, and absolutely appreciate Director Trujillo's comments about the consultation processes 
already occurring with the tribes. She said it’s her everybody wants to do the right thing so she is excited 
about the idea that they're willing to come to the table and have those conversations about how they can 
participate Referring to yesterday, she spoke about the revocation of a license at a tribal entity, Brian 
Considine  made a comment that the state and the tribes currently have an agreement that if a tribe 
revokes a license for an employee , the state should also revoke that license So, perhaps there could be 
something similar to that before it's part of the compact process that perhaps what happens is a player who 
has been self-excluded at all 46 card rooms, because that's essentially who we're talking about right now, 
perhaps when they get their ID checked at a tribal casino and it pops up on a list that says they were 
excluded at these 46 locations, that that player shouldn't be allowed to come into a tribal casino and play. 
She mentioned that lottery checks ID and when you go to a kiosk in other states, you have to put your ID 
in to buy a ticket. And if you've spent over a certain threshold, a pop up says, "Are you sure you want to 
do this? We have noticed that you've spent $500 this week, and you put in a threshold that said you didn't 
want to go above that." She believes these nuances can be put into the rulemaking process.  She is  
encouraged again that the language will include that consultation with the tribes, and she hopes to 
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eventually we can get there with other licensees being pull tabs and horse racing and all the other 
gambling entities across the state. As a board member of the Evergreen Council and the National Council, 
Ms. Chiechi knows that other states have done this and she thinks the summit Ms. Greeley mentioned this 
is a great opportunity to really sit down and figure out how to make this work and protect the players that 
are vulnerable to this issue.  
 
Ms. Chiechi said that the Criminal and Administrative Unit presentations that she heard the day prior 
were important because they show problem gamblers being preyed upon for bookmaking. She asked if the 
agents have enough Problem Gambling awareness or are they just guessing that an individual has a 
problem? She wondered if there were services offered to those people who were preyed upon. Ms. 
Chiechi says there's a big gap between what we recognize and are aware of and what services are 
available. As Maureen mentioned, self-exclusion should also include the step of providing information 
about how someone gets help not just that the problem gambler will be taken of a marketing list.  She 
wondered if that can be put into rule and if not, it should definitely be part of our thought process. She 
thanked the Commission for the opportunity to speak. 
 
Other Business/General Discussion/Public Comment 
Chair Sizemore announced that the next Commission Meeting would be held in Olympia at the Hampton 
Inn and Suites on October 18, 2018.  
 
Public Comment 
There was no additional public comment. 
Day 2  adjourned at 12:30 pm. 
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October Gambling Commission Meeting Minutes 
Hampton Inn & Suites 4301 Martin Way E. Olympia 

Public Meeting  
October 11, 2018 

 
Commissioners Present:                                      
Bud Sizemore, Chair 
Julia Patterson, Vice Chair (via phone) 
Chris Stearns 
Ed Troyer 
Alicia Levy  

Ex Officio Members Present:  
Senator Steve Conway 
Representative Brandon Vick 
 

 
Staff Present: 
David Trujillo, Executive Director; Amy Hunter, Deputy Director; Tina Griffin, Assistant 
Director; Brian Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager; Julie Lies, Tribal Liaison; Julie 
Anderson, Executive Assistant; Heather Songer, Public Information Officer and Matt Kernutt, 
Assistant Attorney General.  
 
Public Meeting Call to Order 
Chair Bud Sizemore called the Gambling Commission meeting to order at 11:10 a.m. and 
immediately went into Executive Session where the Commissioners will discuss litigation, 
pending investigations and tribal negotiations for approximately one hour. Closed session is 
dedicated to discussing summary suspension and/or the petition for a declaratory order. 
Estimated time for the public meeting to start will be 1:00 PM.  
 
At 1:00 pm, Chair Sizemore welcomed everyone to the Hampton Inn & Suites and 
introductions were made.  He asked for a moment of silence to recognize law enforcement 
officers across the country that were lost in the line of duty since we last met. Chair Sizemore 
reordered the agenda to accommodate Commissioner Troyer’s schedule. 
 
There were 42 people in attendance.    
 
Tab 2 
Muckleshoot Negotiations 
The Honorable Virginia Cross, Director Trujillo, and Tribal Liaison Julie Lies presented the 
materials for this tab. Commissioner Stearns introduced the Honorable Virginia Cross, 
Chairwoman of the Muckleshoot Tribes.  
 
Commissioner Patterson joined the meeting via phone.  

Chairwoman Cross thanked the Commissioners for allowing her to present. She explained that 
the Muckleshoot casino revenue supports an array of important programs and services for their 
community from education, healthcare, housing assistance, employment opportunities, 
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behavioral health and mental health programs. Every dollar the casino makes goes towards 
building a better future for all of the Muckleshoot tribal members. This amendment to the 
gaming compact will help keep the Muckleshoot casino in a fiscally sound position and enable 
the tribe to continue funding important programs and services for their tribe.   
Chairwoman Cross introduced Claudia Kauffman staff to the Muckleshoot Tribe and a former 
legislator, and Deryl Brown-Archie tribal attorney that were in the audience. Julie Lies, Tribal 
Liaison continued with the presentation and highlighted the specifics of the compact 
amendments. 
 
After the presentation was over Ms. Lies asked if anyone had any questions that she could 
answer regarding the amendment. There were no specific questions from the audience, however  
Commissioners Stearns asked if there were any provisions of the amendment that are not part 
of the Most Favored Nations adoption of the X2 Amendment, and is there anything that the 
Gambling Commission or Commissioners did outside of what they’ve done for all the other 
tribes? Ms. Lies said that the Appendix X2 Amendment portion is basically what other tribes had 
agreed to and there is also some additional information regarding problem gambling information, 
which other tribes have also agreed to.  
 
Chair Sizemore asked for public comment. There was no public comment. 
 
Commissioner Troyer asked for a show of hands if there were any other Muckleshoot members 
in the audience. He thanked the Muckleshoot Tribe and said that if everybody could adopt their 
way of doing charitable contributions, in his opinion everybody would be in a better place.  
 
Commissioner Stearns moved to forward the proposed compact to the Governor for review and 
final execution.  
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 7:0. This vote included Senator Conway and Representative Vick. 
 
Tab 3 
Petition for Declaratory Order- Big Fish Games, Inc. 
Legal and Legislative Manager, Brian Considine presented the materials for this tab. Chair 
Sizemore explained that the Commissioners heard testimony at the July and August Commission 
meetings. At the August Commission meeting, it was decided that the Commissioners would 
close out oral arguments on the issue at that meeting and accept written testimony through 5:00 
PM Pacific Time on September 30th. After, Mr. Considine presents the new information to the 
Commissioners staff will clear the room so Commissioners can hold a closed session and then 
reconvene to announce the decision after deliberation. Mr. Considine presented an additional 
letter that was not in the packet for the Commissioners to review. Commissioners went into 
closed session at 1:30 pm and reconvened the meeting at 1:50 pm.  
 
Commissioners issued an order declining to enter a Declaratory Order signed by 
Commissioners Sizemore, Patterson, Troyer and Levy.  Commissioner Stearns issued a 
dissent stating he would find that the petitioner’s games as presented were not gambling. 
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Tab 1 
Consent Agenda: 
Commissioner Levy moved to approve the New Licenses and Class III employee licensees as 
presented by staff. 
Commissioner Troyer seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 4:0  
Commissioner Patterson was not present for the vote.  
 
Commissioner Levy moved to approve the Class III certifications for the Snoqualmie Tribe 
and Cowlitz Tribe. 
Commissioner Troyer seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioner Stearns abstained. 
Commissioner Patterson was not present for the vote.  
 
Commissioner Troyer left the Commission Meeting.  
 
Commissioner Stearns moved to approve the 2019 Commission Meeting Schedule as 
presented. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the motion. 
The motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote.  
 
Director’s Report   
Director Trujillo announced that he attended the Four Directions conference that was held at 
Squaxin Island conference center and that Commissioner Stearns received the Legacy of 
Commitment award and that Maureen Greely received the Monsignor Joseph Dunne Lifetime 
Award for Advocacy from the National Council on Problem Gambling. He also said that he met 
with Washington Association of Prosecuting Attorneys, Executive Director, and Tom McBride 
at the request of the Commissioners regarding Gambling Commission cases. The meeting went 
well and Director McBride offered to meet with our staff and Commissioners to explain the 
process. Director McBride plans to retire at the end of November so Director Trujillo hopes the 
offer will extend to his successor. 
 
Tribal Liaison, Julie Lies spoke about the Centennial Accord that was held on September 25th. 
Chair Sizemore attended the meeting representing the agency.  Ms. Lies reported that the 
Gambling Commission has worked on several efficiencies with tribes related to our electronic 
gambling lab and their testing process. The agency has offered training to tribal regulators, 
coordinating with the Puyallup TGA for 60 students to attend a one-week long class that had 13 
tribes participate. The Gambling Commission has been meeting with tribes on several topics of 
interest for both the tribes and the agency. Also, completing the updated or modernized 
Jamestown S'Klallam Tribe's Class III gaming compact. She stated that this report can be read in 
its entirety on our website. Chair Sizemore asked if there were any questions from the audience. 
There were none. He reported that he was able to attend the second day of the Accord, which 
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was the full day with Governor Inslee. Governor Inslee answered a question from Chairman Ron 
Allen from Jamestown S'Klallam, regarding the revenue source for the criminal enforcement 
unit. He said Chairman Allen recognizes the critical importance of our criminal enforcement unit 
and encouraged the Governor to recognize the value to all Washingtonians of our criminal 
enforcement unit regarding their work in both regulated and unregulated activities, on Indian 
country or off and made a request to the Governor that this should be state funded. Chair 
Sizemore reminded the commission that this topic has not been a formal proposal to the 
legislature. Commissioner Stearns asked if problem gambling was mentioned at the meeting 
with the Governor. Chair Sizemore did not hear anything specific to problem gambling.  
 
Tab 4 
Default                                                                                  
Staff Attorney, Haylee Mills presented the default materials.  
 
Cum Inn Bar & Grill, CR 201701455, Punch Board/Pull-Tab Revocation. 
Chair Sizemore asked if a representative was present from Cum Inn Bar & Grill. No one was 
present.   

Commissioner Levy moved to revoke the Punchboard/Pull-Tab application for the Cum Inn 
Bar & Grill. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote.  

Sonny R. Noudaranouvong, CR 2018-01511, Public Card Room License Revocation.   
Chair Sizemore asked if Mr. Sonny Noudaranouvong was in the audience. He was not present.   

Commissioner Stearns moved to revoke the public card room license of Mr. Sonny 
Noudaranouvong. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote. 

Thuan Q. Phan, CR 2018-00555, Public Card Room License Revocation.  
Chair Sizemore asked if Mr. Thuan Q. Phan was in the audience. He was not present.   

Commissioner Levy moved to revoke the public card room license of Mr. Thuan Q. Phan. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote. 
 
Meisean Teurn, CR 2018-01076, Public Card Room License Revocation. 
Chair Sizemore asked if Ms. Meisean Teurn was in the audience. She was not present.   

Commissioner Stearns moved to revoke the public card room license of Ms. Meisean Teurn. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote. 
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Tab 5 
Petition for Rule Change Soft Count 
Assistant Director, Tina Griffin presented the materials for this tab. She stated that this rule is 
up for discussion only. It should be ready for final action next month at the November meeting. 
This rule petition was submitted originally by Stacey Hess with Great American Gaming. They 
operate four house-banked card rooms in Washington. The petitioner did submit the rule earlier 
in the year. We worked with the petitioner and the language was changed and approved last 
month, based on some information we found in looking at what other states were doing that have 
two member soft count teams and use automated currencies, currency counters, with their soft 
count as well as looking at what our tribal facilities do in the State of Washington. This rule is up 
for final action at the November Commission Meeting. Chair Sizemore asked for public 
comment. There was no public comment.  The rule was up for discussion only so no vote was 
taken. 

Director Trujillo introduced the newest member of the Gambling Commission that will be 
reporting the Brian Considine. Her name is Kat Husted, and was hired as the Public Records 
Officer. Director Trujillo also mentioned that Deputy Director Amy Hunter has taken a position 
with the Department of Financial Institutions. Her last day with the agency will be October 26. 
 
Tab 6 
Petition for Rule Change Marketing Level Restrictions 
Legal and Legislative Manager, Brian Considine presented the materials for this tab.  
 
Commissioner Stearns had an emergency and had to leave the meeting. That left the 
Gambling Commission without a quorum. 
 
Chair Sizemore asked if the petitioner would be willing to present at the next meeting in 
November. The petitioner agreed to come back to the November meeting.  
 
Chair Sizemore opened the floor to commissioners and ex officio for comment. Senator 
Conway asked about Agency Request Legislation and confirmed that the Commissioners took 
action on Self-Exclusion. Chair Sizemore agreed. Director Trujillo explained to the Senator 
about the problem gambling study that the University of Washington and the Washington State 
University is contracted for. The study will be presented to the Commissioners at the January or 
February meeting.  
 
Chair Sizemore asked for public comment.  
 
Dolores Chiechi, Executive Director for Recreational Gaming Association, stated that she was 
pretty blown away to hear about Deputy Director Amy Hunter’s departure from the Gambling 
Commission. She explained that in her capacity over the last 20 years, she has worked closely 
with Ms. Hunter in the legislative session, and she's been a great asset to the Commission and her 
presence will be sorely missed, and hopefully, Director Trujillo is on deck to find somebody else 
to put into that role. Wish her the best in the future. We'll miss her. 
 
At this time Commissioner Stearns returned to the meeting.  
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Senator Steve Conway expressed his appreciation of Deputy Director’s hard work and will miss 
her in this capacity at the Gambling Commission. He thanked her for all her work on the 
legislative team at the Gambling Commission.  
 
Commissioner Chris Stearns also expressed his appreciation of all that Deputy Director Amy 
Hunter has brought to the Gambling Commission. He said she really has that unique ability to 
get things across to anyone and, to explain things to you. She's just really, really good at what 
she does, he said. And, that she is just an incredible individual, and the Gambling Commission is 
going to miss her so much and I personally will miss her very, very much. 
 
Chair Sizemore recognized that Commissioner Stearns returned to the meeting and that we now 
had a quorum and can go back to Tab 6. 
 
Tab 6 
Petition for Rule Change Marketing Level Restrictions 
Legal and Legislative Manager, Brian Considine presented the materials for this tab. He was 
joined by Wendy Winsor, owner of W.O.W. Distributing. This petition requests the repeal of 
WAC 230-03-225, which prohibits licensed manufacturers or distributers of punchboard/pull-
tabs from also being licensed gambling service suppliers.  Mr. Considine explained the process 
and said that Ms. Winsor was available to explain further or answer any questions from the 
commission. Ms. Winsor introduced herself and said that her and her husband, and brother-in-
law started their distributorship in 1990. They run and operate a pull-tab university, where they 
train operators and new licensees how to sell pull tabs. Ms. Winsor is requesting the repeal of 
this rule because WAC 230-03-225 is no longer needed, imposes unreasonable costs and 
conflicts with another rule. Ms. Winsor further provided this repeal is necessary because:  

1. “A distributor of pull-tabs, and its representatives, must inform and educate prospective 
and established pull-tab licensees in order to perform the activities for which it is 
licensed; and 

2. Unreasonable costs (i.e., photo copying, labor, transportation) are incurred by the 
distributor in the course of performing these licensed activities; and 

3. WAC 230-03-210 requires anyone who performs these activities for compensation must 
apply for a gambling service supplier license but WAC 230-03-225 does not allow a 
distributor to hold both licenses.” 

Ms. Winsor states, “Repeal of WAC 230-03-225 would allow a distributor to perform its 
licensed activities and remain compliant.” 
 
Senator Conway mentioned that he was an advocate for the three-tiered system. But, he is 
concerned in removing the language of the three-tiered system from the WAC. Ms. Winsor 
suggested a change in the language and said she would be happy to work with staff and discuss it 
when this topic comes before the commission in the coming months. Director Trujillo 
interjected and said with the proposed language the three-tiered system stays intact.  
Chair Sizemore asked for public comment. There was no public comment.  Mr. Considine said 
that staff recommends accepting the petition and filing initial rule-making to allow for further 
review and analysis of our service supplier rules and marketing level restrictions for 
punchboard/pull-tab operators. He said that with reaching out to stakeholders so we get feedback 
from everyone involved that this petition will not be before the Commissioner until the January 
Commission Meeting.   
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Commissioner Levy moved to accept the petition for filing and enter into rule-making as 
recommended by staff.  
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote. 
 
Chair Sizemore mentioned that he represented the Gambling Commission at the Tribal 
Consultation meeting yesterday and one of the topics discussed was our self-exclusion bill that 
was approved at last months September commission meeting.  When sitting down with tribal 
leaders and their designees yesterday, it was determined that there was a real problem with a 
legislative mandate to make self-exclusion a portion of their Compact negotiations. And it felt to 
the tribes that, and I'll ask Commissioner Stearns to maybe go into any more detail if I miss this, 
it felt like a strain on the sovereignty of the 29 tribes if they were required by the legislature to 
enter into Compacts on this issue. So, it has happened before, the tribes agreed to it at that point 
and if they had it to do over, it appears that they would not.  Commissioner Stearns replied with 
the commission must consider a supervision of state-wide self-exclusion, participation as 
elements to be negotiated with federally recognized Indian tribes as provided in RCW. It does 
seem to tread upon the sovereignty of the tribes. So, I would fully support or recommend that we 
remove subsection (g). 
 
Commissioner Stearns recommended the removal of Subsection (g) for the Agency Request 
Legislation. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the motion.  
The motion passed 3:0 
Commissioners Troyer and Patterson were not present for the vote.  
 
Other Business/General Discussion/Public Comment 
Chair Sizemore reminded the audience that the next Commission Meeting will be held at the 
Hampton Inn and Suites in Olympia.   
 
Additional Public Comment 
There was no public comment. 
The Commission meeting adjourned at 4:15 pm. 
 

























































Card Room Other Total Total Net Income
Revenue Revenue Revenue Expenses or (Loss)

Licensee City (1) (2) (3) [4]
ROMAN CASINO Seattle $19,612,760 484,131 $20,096,891 $15,529,559 $4,567,332 
GREAT AMERICAN CASINO/EVERETT Everett $10,742,944 1,988,622 $12,731,566 $8,528,267 $4,203,299 
CASINO CARIBBEAN/KIRKLAND Kirkland $8,950,914 1,828,702 $10,779,616 $7,536,681 $3,242,935 
MACAU CASINO/TUKWILA Tukwila $10,333,792 1,947,504 $12,281,296 $9,191,811 $3,089,485 
CRAZY MOOSE CASINO/PASCO Pasco $7,787,053 2,335,445 $10,122,498 $7,644,358 $2,478,140 
SILVER DOLLAR CASINO/SEATAC SeaTac $6,181,941 1,579,253 $7,761,194 $5,818,502 $1,942,692 
FREDDIE'S CLUB Renton $8,641,133 1,834,069 $10,475,202 $8,541,478 $1,933,724 
GREAT AMERICAN CASINO/TUKWILA Tukwila $10,426,107 3,266,113 $13,692,220 $11,778,066 $1,914,154 
CASINO CARIBBEAN/YAKIMA Yakima $5,727,946 2,055,848 $7,783,794 $5,995,143 $1,788,651 
SILVER DOLLAR CASINO/RENTON Renton $6,926,180 1,619,402 $8,545,582 $7,104,216 $1,441,366 
COYOTE BOB'S Kennewick $4,432,807 888,209 $5,321,016 $4,017,105 $1,303,911 
GOLDIE'S SHORELINE CASINO Shoreline $7,596,364 2,143,132 $9,739,496 $8,537,363 $1,202,133 
SLO PITCH PUB & EATERY Bellingham $3,007,151 2,331,315 $5,338,466 $4,183,323 $1,155,143 
RIVERSIDE CASINO Tukwila $11,976,018 3,402,083 $15,378,101 $14,309,870 $1,068,231 
SILVER DOLLAR CASINO/MILL CREEK Mill Creek $4,608,258 1,015,984 $5,624,242 $4,577,980 $1,046,262 
BUZZ INN STEAKHOUSE/EAST WENATCHEast Wenatchee $2,863,203 2,564,434 $5,427,637 $4,397,120 $1,030,517 
THE PALACE/LACENTER LaCenter $11,609,439 2,907,595 $14,517,034 $13,645,690 $871,344 
ROYAL CASINO Everett $5,409,853 1,309,626 $6,719,479 $6,086,295 $633,184 
JOKER'S CASINO SPORTS BAR & FIESTA Richland $2,260,523 3,126,035 $5,386,558 $4,830,062 $556,496 
PALACE CASINO/LAKEWOOD Lakewood $6,528,898 1,775,262 $8,304,160 $7,804,379 $499,781 
MACAU CASINO/LAKEWOOD Lakewood $6,597,176 1,747,114 $8,344,290 $7,909,348 $434,942 
ALL STAR CASINO Silverdale $3,619,560 4,884,571 $8,504,131 $8,096,056 $408,075 
HAWKS PRAIRIE CASINO Lacey $4,138,328 957,490 $5,095,818 $4,697,523 $398,295 
CARIBBEAN CARDROOM Kirkland $1,999,224 782,787 $2,782,011 $2,406,459 $375,552 
BLACK PEARL RESTAURANT & CARD RO Spokane $4,658,792 944,011 $5,602,803 $5,405,761 $197,042 
LILAC LANES & CASINO Spokane $1,738,489 1,767,666 $3,506,155 $3,347,271 $158,884 
LANCER LANES RESTAURANT AND CASI Clarkston $829,655 924,306 $1,753,961 $1,608,837 $145,124 
ZS RESTAURANT AT ZEPPOZ Pullman $855,906 2,132,140 $2,988,046 $2,849,778 $138,268 
WIZARDS CASINO Burien $4,530,138 2,792,361 $7,322,499 $7,200,028 $122,471 
ACES CASINO ENTERTAINMENT Spokane $1,392,279 $304,916 $1,697,195 $1,606,968 $90,227 
CLUB HOLLYWOOD CASINO Shoreline $5,319,034 1,419,667 $6,738,701 $6,671,193 $67,508 
RC'S AT VALLEY LANES Sunnyside $769,128 717,623 $1,486,751 $1,430,167 $56,584 
RED DRAGON CASINO Mountlake Terrace $3,061,688 612,310 $3,673,998 $3,624,786 $49,212 
CHIPS CASINO/LAKEWOOD Lakewood $5,591,455 1,544,998 $7,136,453 $7,087,585 $48,868 
NOB HILL CASINO Yakima $2,746,083 1,382,698 $4,128,781 $4,081,722 $47,059 
CRAZY MOOSE CASINO/MOUNTLAKE TERMountlake Terrace $3,476,914 $790,415 $4,267,329 $4,227,853 $39,476 
ROXY'S BAR & GRILL Seattle $2,626,815 2,357,534 $4,984,349 $4,964,361 $19,988 
CLEARWATER Wenatchee $1,857,833 686,212 $2,544,045 $2,565,279 ($21,234)
UBET Longview $2,000,511 403,696 $2,404,207 $2,432,029 ($27,822)
FORTUNE CASINO Tukwila $5,582,642 1,781,461 $7,364,103 $7,399,879 ($35,776)
PAPAS CASINO RESTAURANT & LOUNGEMoses Lake $2,218,982 4,107,311 $6,326,293 $6,368,292 ($41,999)
WILD GOOSE CASINO Ellensburg $710,716 235,056 $945,772 $989,831 ($44,059)
THE GETAWAY CASINO Walla Walla $919,917 845,121 $1,765,038 $1,884,795 ($119,757)
PALACE TUKWILA Tukwila $29,195 52,975 $82,170 $290,487 ($208,317)
IRON HORSE CASINO/AUBURN Auburn $5,173,957 2,051,524 $7,225,481 $7,513,764 ($288,283)
LUCKY 21 Woodland $4,309,655 2,771,921 $7,081,576 $7,447,103 ($365,527)
GREAT AMERICAN CASINO/LAKEWOOD Lakewood $5,384,360 1,769,375 $7,153,735 $7,738,619 ($584,884)
EMERALD DOWNS Auburn $843,211 533,520 $1,376,731 $2,344,694 ($967,963)
LAST FRONTIER LaCenter $11,357,641 1,948,728 $13,306,369 $15,266,014 ($1,959,645)
GREAT AMERICAN CASINO/DES MOINES Des Moines $1,037,318 446,283 $1,483,601 $3,571,277 ($2,087,676)

Summary of House-Banked Card Room Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Years Ending in 2017

(Sorted by Licensee Net Income or (Loss))

 - - - - - 2017 REVENUES - - - - -



NOTE:  House-banked card room licensees must submit financial statements to the commission within 120 days after the end
of their fiscal year.   The financial statements include all gambling and non-gambling revenues and expenses of the licensee.  
 
(1)  Card Room Revenue is the gross revenue from the card room activity only.  No other gambling activity revenues are included.  

(2)  Other Revenue is all revenues earned by the licensee other than from the card room, as defined above. This may include
revenues from pull tabs,  amusement games, food, beverage, and any other services/activities provided by the licensee.

(3)  Total Expenses are all the expenses incurred by the licensee to operate their business during the fiscal year.  Expenses may 
include such items as  cost of sales, advertising, wages, utilities, depreciation, interest expenses, taxes, and Federal Income Tax Provisions.

(4)  Net loss may include impairment of goodwill and loss on disposal of discontinued operations; net income may include debt 

forgiveness and gain on deconsolidation.  

(5) Average -Net Income (Net Loss) of those reporting: Average # %
Net Income $1,047,739 37 74%
Net Loss ($519,457) 13 26%
Combined $640,268 50 100%

(6) This report is merely a summary of the financial information reported to us.  The actual financial statements, footnotes, 
and auditor’s report are an integral part of this information.
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2017 2016

# % # %

Licensees Reporting Net Income 37 74% 40 82%

Licensees Reporting Net Loss 13 26% 9 18%

Total 50 100% 49 100%
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2017 2016

Range of Net Income $19,988  to $4,567,332 $78,800  to  $4,343,870

Range of Net Loss ($21,234) to  ($2,087,676) ($69)  to  ($1,078,769)



Highest number of licensed and operating HBCRs per year. 4

Licensed and Operating HBCRs 2002 to 2018
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Licensed HBCR employees as of June 30 each year. 5

Licensed HBCR Employees 2002 to 2018
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TO:          COMMISSIONERS    EX OFFICIO MEMBERS  

         Bud Sizemore, Chair     Senator Steve Conway  

  Julia Patterson, Vice-Chair    Senator Lynda Wilson 

   Christopher Stearns    Representative Brandon Vick 

   Ed Troyer     Representative David Sawyer 

   Alicia Levy 

      

FROM:        Brian J. Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager  

 

SUBJECT:  Sports Gambling Monthly Update – November 2018 

 

This memo continues my sports gambling updates submitted to you in June, July, August, and 

October. Below is an updated sports gambling summary within the U.S. as of November 1, 2018:   
 

Congress 
 

There has been little activity from Congress since the U.S. House of Representatives Judiciary 

Subcommittee held a hearing on sports gambling. It is likely this will continue until after the 

mid-term elections and a new Congress adjourns in 2019.  Even then, the expectation is that 

there is little change for Congress to intervene at this time. 
 

Sports Leagues 
 

Professional sports leagues continue to lobby state legislators for integrity or royalty fees and 

control over the sharing of their statistics and data.  However, the NCAA is not advocating for 

integrity or royalty fees. Instead, it recently urged the Indiana Legislature for the “enactment of 

clear and enforceable legal standards to protect the integrity of American sporting contests, the 

health and safety of student-athletes and professional participants, and customers.” It also 

identified 4 main principles (attached) for any legislative framework. 

 

Lastly, the American Gaming Association released the results from two Nielsen studies that 

show U.S. professional sports leagues will benefit financially from legal and regulated sports 

gambling. The studies show that the leagues will received $4.2 billion in direct and indirect 

revenues, through channels such as advertising, sponsorship, and media rights. 
 

States 
 

Delaware, Mississippi, New Jersey, Nevada, and West Virginia currently offer a full-range of 

sports gambling within their state casinos and horse racetracks. Rhode Island and Pennsylvania 

are each expected to have their new operations begin in the next 1-2 months. Additional states 

being mentioned as the “next wave” of states that could authorize sports gambling during their 

next legislative session are: Connecticut, Kentucky, Iowa, Ohio, Michigan, Virginia, Indiana, 

Illinois, and Washington D.C, the latter three each had state legislative hearings on sports 

gambling in October.  Here is an update for the states where sports gambling is currently legal:  
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Delaware – Sports gambling started in the state on June 5, 2018.  The state Lottery is 

the primary regulator.  Sports gambling is only offered at three land-based racetracks 

and casinos, and these are joint operations by the state through a vendor.  The 

allocation of net revenues are 12.5% to the vendors (Scientific Games, William Hill, 

and StadiumTech) and the remaining 87.5% of net revenues are allocated 50% to the 

state, 40% to the racetrack/casinos, and 10% to horse racing purses. From June 

through September 2018, the state has taken approximately $39.7 million in wagers 

and $5.19 million in revenues, with approximately $2.59 million for the state.  

 

New Jersey – Sports gambling started in the state on June 14, 2018.  The Casino 

Control Commission is the primary licensing authority and Attorney General’s 

Division of Gaming Enforcement (DGE) is the primary regulator.  There are 12 land-

based and 8 online operators offering sports gambling currently. New Jersey recently 

added an additional 1.25 percent sports gambling tax to benefit to the state’s Casino 

Reinvestment Development Agency.  Its land-based gross revenues are now taxed at 

9.75% and mobile and online revenues are taxed at 13%.  In June through September, 

approximately $336 million was wagered, including approximately $184 million in 

September, $40.44 million in gross revenues, and $4.14 million in state tax revenue.  

Of note, 56% of wagers in September were placed online. 

 

Mississippi – Sports gambling started in the state on August 1, 2018.  The Gaming 

Commission is primary regulator, and gross revenues are taxed at 12%. Sports 

gambling is land-based only and mobile gambling is only allowed on the operator’s 

property.  However, no mobile gaming is available yet.  Only 20 of the 28 state 

casinos currently offered sports gambling. Since August, there has been 

approximately $38.03 million in wagers for approximately $6.14 million in gross 

revenues, $737,855 of which was state tax revenue.  Of note, the first full month of 

football brought in $31.77 million in wagers and $5.5 million gross revenue. 

 

West Virginia – Sports gambling started in the state on September 1, 2018.  The state 

Lottery is the primary regulator for that state’s five licensed race racetrack/casinos, 

and gross revenues are taxed at 10%.  For the first three weeks of September, there 

was approximately $3.36 million in wagers for approximately $1 million in gross 

revenues, $100,000 of which was state tax revenue. 

 

Pennsylvania – The Gaming Control Board is the primary regulator and sports 

gambling can occur at the state’s twelve licensed commercial casinos and through 

mobile and internet platforms. There is a $10 million licensing fee and gross revenues 

will be taxed at 36%. In October, the Gaming Control Board approved five operators 

for sports gambling at six locations. Operators hope to open sometime in November. 

Three additional operator sports gambling applications are awaiting approval.   

 

Rhode Island – The state lottery is the primary regulator and operator. It will operate 

the sports gambling through two commercial casinos.  The allocation of net revenues 

are 51% to the state; 32% to the Vendor (IGT); and 17 % to the casino. The state 

hopes to begin operations in November or December. 
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Lastly, Nevada reported for September approximately $571 million in wagers, $56 million in 

gross revenues, and $3.78 million in taxes.  The wagers and gross revenue for September is the 

most on record for Nevada sports books. 

 

Tribal Governments 
 

The Pueblo of Santa Ana opened New Mexico’s first sports book at their Santa Ana Star Casino, 

just outside Albuquerque, on October 16, 2018.  USBookingmaking, run by long-time Las Vegas 

sports book operator John Salerno, is the risk manager for the casino with the sports book 

employees working for the casino.  Additionally, the Tribe will not accept wagers on local 

college teams and will not have mobile wagering at the casino at this time. 

 

This opening came as a surprise to those outside of New Mexico because the state has not 

authorized sports gambling under state law.  However, the state’s compact with the Tribes grants 

all signatory Tribes “extensive authority to authorize Class III activities at their facilities” and the 

Tribes “shall establish, at its discretion, by tribal law, [any] limitations as it deems appropriate on 

the amount and type of Class III gaming conducted” at its facilities.  Therefore, the compact does 

not limit the type of Class III games authorized.  The New Mexico Attorney General’s Office has 

indicated it is monitoring the situation but does not intend to stop the activity at this time. 

 

Commercial Operators 
 

There have been several partnership agreements between sports teams or leagues.  William Hill 

recently announced it is the official partner of the NHL’s Las Vegas Golden Knights and a 

partner with the New Jersey Devils. Additionally, Caesar’s announced an official partnership 

with the NFL’s Baltimore Ravens, the NBA’s Philadelphia 76ers; and the NHL’s New Jersey 

Devils.  The Dallas Cowboys announced a partnership with the Chickasaw Nation’s WinStar 

World Casino in Oklahoma as its official casino and the NFL New York Jets announced 

partnerships with MGM and 888 Casino, the latter is a licensed New Jersey online casino. 

 

Scientific Games announced that it will acquire Don Best Sports, a well-known Las Vegas-based 

“supplier of real-time betting data and pricing for North American sporting events.”  

Additionally, MGM GVC Interactive, which is the joint venture between MGM and GVC 

Holdings PLC, a large U.K. operator,  I informed you about in August, announced it will partner 

with the United Auburn Indian Community in California for sports gambling services once it is 

authorized in California and by compact. 

 

Additionally, New Jersey’s online sports gambling continues to expand and there are now twelve 

land-based casinos and eight online operators. One operator, FanDuel Sportsbook at the 

Meadowlands, had an issue recently arise where it accidently offered 750-1 odds for an in-game 

wager related to whether or not a field goal kick would be good.  It was supposed to be 6-1 odds 

and several players took advantage of the company’s error. FanDuel eventually agreed to pay the 

full cost of the bet on the ticket at $82,610 along with other undisclosed tickets who wagered on 

the inaccurate odds.  







Nooksack Indian Tribe 
Proposal Seventh Amendment Draft 

Summary of Changes 
October 2018 

 
 

The Washington State Gambling Commission has reached a tentative agreement with the Nooksack 
Indian Tribe on an amendment to its Class III gaming compact. 
 

 Gaming Facility - Allows the Tribe to operate Class III gaming at their Class II Northwood 
Casino, which is on off-reservation trust land north of Lynden, WA.  Also includes Class II to 
Class III transition steps to ensure gaming compact provisions are met.  This change is 
consistent with other tribes’ gaming compacts. 

 Problem Gambling – Adds the tribe creating and maintaining a responsible gambling program 
and adds problem gambling funding dedicated to problem gambling treatment of non-Indian 
members, funding in-treatment facilities, to support problem gambling studies, and/or to 
support responsible gaming policy. 

 Community Contribution – Updates contribution language to include organizations that may 
be impacted by the operation of Class III gaming at the Northwood Casino. This change is 
consistent with other tribes’ gaming compacts. 

 Renegotiations – provides timeframe to update other outdated compact provisions. 
 
The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988 provides that Indian tribes may conduct Class III gaming 
activities on Indian lands when the gaming is conducted in conformance with a tribal-state compact. 
 
RCW 9.46.360 provides that the Gambling Commission negotiate those compacts on behalf of the 
state. The Nooksack Indian Tribe’s tribal-state compact for Class III gaming was originally signed in 
October 1991 and this is the seventh amendment. Public comments regarding this compact amendment 
may be submitted to compactcomments@wsgc.wa.gov. 
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SEVENTH AMENDMENT  

TO THE TRIBAL-STATE COMPACT 

 FOR CLASS III GAMING  

BETWEEN 

THE NOOKSACK INDIAN TRIBE AND THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 
WHEREAS, on October 28, 1991, the State of Washington (“State”) and the Nooksack 

Indian Tribe (“Tribe”) executed a Class III Gaming Compact (“Compact”), pursuant to the 
Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988 (“IGRA”), P.L. 100-407, codified at 25 U.S.C. Section 
2701 et. seq. and 18 U.S.C. Sections 1166-1668; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Class III Gaming Compact executed by the State and the Tribe, as 
well any amendments thereto, were approved by the Secretary of the Interior and are in full 
force and effect (hereinafter referred to as the “Compact”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the State and Tribe subsequently conducted additional negotiations in 
accordance with the provisions of IGRA and the terms of the Compact; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Tribe and the State have agreed to certain changes to the Compact, 
including certain provisions found within Appendix X2, and agreed to incorporate an 
optional Addendum to that Appendix, 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Compact shall be, and is hereby amended as follows: 
 
1. Add to Compact Section 3 Nature, Size and Scope of Class III Gaming (a):  

 
(xxvi) Satellite (Off-Track) wagering on Horse Races, subject to Appendix C. 
 

2. Amend Compact Section 3 Nature, Size and Scope of Class III Gaming (d) to:   
 

(d) Authorized Gaming Operation. The Tribe may establish two gaming facilities to be 
located on trust lands within or contiguous to the boundaries of the Nooksack 
Reservation Nooksack Tribal Lands for the operation of any Class III games as 
authorized pursuant to sub-section (a) of this Section. The gaming facilities may be in the 
same location and operated in conjunction with the other Tribal gaming operations. 

 
3. Add to Compact Section 6 Tribal Enforcement of Compact Provisions: 

 
(h) Problem Gambling  

The Tribe recognizes that gaming activities can lead to compulsive behavior that has 
the same negative consequences as other behavioral addictions. The Tribe agrees to 
establish an education and awareness program for Tribal Lands and surrounding 
communities. The program may be independent or developed as an adjunct to the 
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program with which the State currently works.  On an annual basis 120 days after the 
end of the Tribe’s fiscal year, the Tribe will provide information about education, 
awareness, and treatment program services in its community impacts and 
contributions report under Appendix X2, Section 14.7 which includes how funding 
was spent and how the community benefited from the program.  The Tribe and State 
Gaming Agency agree to work together in good faith to share information related to 
problem gambling best practices and to meet promptly on the request of either party 
to discuss issues related to problem gambling 

 
 (i) Responsible Gambling 

The Tribe and State Gaming Agency recognize the importance of responsible 
gambling as part of the shared responsibility to protect the health, welfare, and safety 
of the citizens of the Tribe and of the State.  As part of that responsibility, the Tribe 
agrees to create and maintain a responsible gambling policy that addresses at least the 
following areas: Annual training and education for all gaming employees, with a 
separate training for management, to cover such topics as how to identify problem 
gamblers, how to provide assistance when asked, underage prevention, and 
unattended children; Self-exclusion, to cover such topics as the receipt of marketing 
materials and into the facility; Self-restriction, to cover such topics as setting limits on 
spending, time, and check cashing limits (which could be done through the player 
tracking systems); and  Resources, to include such topics as posting hot line numbers, 
signage and material availability on how to seek treatment. 

4. Amend Compact Section 9 Law Enforcement Jurisdiction Relating to Gambling (c) 
to: 

 
(c) Consent to Application of State Law. For the purposes of 2518 USC Section 1166(d) 

and enforcing the provisions of this Compact, and of protecting the public health, 
safety and welfare, and to the extent not inconsistent with other provisions of this 
Compact, RCW 9.46.0245; 9.46.0269; 9.46.071; 9.46.072; 9.46.075; 9.46.140; 
9.46.155; 9.46.160; 9.46.170; 9.46.180; 9.46.185; 9.46.190; 9.46.196; 9.46.1961; 
9.46.1962; 9.46.198; 9.46.210 (3)(4); 9.46.212; 9.46.215; 9.46.220; 9.46.221; 
9.46.222; 9.46.225; 9.46.228; 9.46.230; 9.46.231; 9.46.235; 9.46.240; 9.46.360; 
9.46.36001; 9.46.410; 10.97.030; 67.16; 67.70; 9A.56; 9A.60; 9A.83.020; 9.35.020 as 
now or hereinafter amended, including those amendments enacted by the 1991 
Legislative Regular Session, set forth in Appendix B, shall be applicable and 
incorporated herein as part of this Compact and the Tribe consents to this grant of 
jurisdiction to the State as provided for in Section 9 (a) with respect to gaming on 
Nooksack Tribal Lands. 

 
5. Add to Compact Section 10 Enforcement of Compact Provisions: 
  

(c) Transition Date.  The transition date shall occur upon publishing of the Seventh 
Amendment in the Federal Register, and approval by the State Gaming Agency and 
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the Tribal Gaming Commission that the gaming facility has passed the pre-operation 
inspection as set forth in Section 4 (a) and is in compliance with the Compact.  

(d) Transition.  The Tribe is currently operating a Class II gaming facility and it is the 
intention of both the Tribe and State to make the transition to a combination of Class 
II and Class III gaming facility expeditiously, without any disruption in business.  
Until the transition date, the following provisions shall be in effect: 

(i) Best Efforts.  The Tribe shall use best efforts in transitioning the gaming facility 
to comply with the provisions of this Compact.  At least sixty (60) days before 
the proposed transition date, the Tribe shall:  

(a) Submit to the State Gaming Agency all information required to certify 
Class III gaming employees licensed by the Tribe prior to the Transition 
Date; and 

(b) Schedule the pre-operational review with the State Gaming Agency that 
must be completed by the Transition Date. 

(ii) In recognition of the following items, the Tribal Gaming Agency may request 
the State Gaming Agency to begin the joint pre-operational review as soon as 
the Seventh Amendment is signed by both Tribe and the State in preparation for 
the Transition Date:  

(a) The Tribe signed a Class III Gaming Compact in 1991, and 

(b) The Tribe operated a Class III gaming facility for 22 years before closing 
the facility in 2015, and 

(c) The Tribe has maintained the same Tribal Gaming Agency leadership for 
at least the last seven years.   

(iii) The State Gaming Agency shall use best efforts to assist the Tribe in the 
transition. The Tribe and State further agree to document agreement of pre-
operational terms and timelines as needed in a memorandum of understanding 
(MOU). 

6. Amend Compact Section 14 Public Health and Safety (c) to: 
 

(c) Community Contribution. Two and one-half percent (2.5%) of the net win of the gaming 
stations shall be paid to the County of Whatcom for law enforcement purposes as a 
contribution to defray potential impacts which may result from the operation of the Class 
III gaming facilities. The contribution shall be made annually upon the anniversaries of 
the opening of the facilities in the manner agreed upon between the Tribe and Whatcom 
County. A sum of money equal to two percent (2%) of the net win of the Gaming 
Stations, less and except the “non-profit” Gaming Station(s), shall be paid by the 
Tribe to Whatcom County and any other neighboring jurisdictions for law 
enforcement, emergency services, and/or service agencies (including those agencies 
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responsible for traffic and transportation, as well as those that provide services to 
support problem or pathological gambling)  to defer the actual or potential impacts 
upon those jurisdictions resulting from the operation of the Class III Gaming 
Facilities, and/or other purposes as the Tribe and a jurisdiction may agree.  These 
funds shall be proportionately shared by impacted jurisdictions based upon evidence 
of such impacts as demonstrated by each jurisdiction.  The contribution must be made 
annually in the manner and method mutually agreed upon in writing between the 
Tribe and each jurisdiction. Except as provided in Appendix X2, Section 14.1, no 
Tribal Lottery System gaming device revenues, proceeds from a nonprofit station as 
authorized under Section III(I), Class II gaming revenues, or non-gaming revenues, 
such as, but not limited to, food, beverage, wholesale or retail sales, shall be included, 
with the two percent (2.0%) as set forth in this section. 

 
7. Add Section 14.4.1 to Appendix X2: 

 
14.4.1 Problem Gambling. In addition to the thirteen one-hundredths of one percent (0.13%) 
in Section 14.4 above, seven one-hundredths of one percent (0.07%) of the net win derived 
from all Class III gaming activities, determined on an annual basis, shall be dedicated to 
problem gambling treatment of non-Indian members, funding in-treatment facilities, to 
support problem gambling studies, and/or to support responsible gaming policy in the State 
of Washington as outlined in (new) Compact Section 6(i).   

 
8. The Tribe and State agree to begin negotiation discussions to update provisions of the Tribe’s 

Class III Compact no later than two (2) years from the date of publishing of this Seventh 
Amendment in the Federal Register. 
 

 
This Amendment shall take effect upon publication of notice of approval by the United States 
Secretary of the Interior in the Federal Register in accordance with 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(B).   
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Nooksack Indian Tribe and the State of Washington have 
executed this Seventh Amendment to the Compact. 
 

 
NOOKSACK INDIAN TRIBE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

 
BY:   BY:    
 Ross Cline Sr.   Jay Inslee 

Chairman Governor 
 
DATED:   DATED:    
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Our Mission

“Protect the public by ensuring 
that gambling is

legal and honest”
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1988: Indian Gaming Regulatory Act

“Class III gaming activities shall be lawful on 
Indian lands only if such activities are… 

located in a State that permits such gaming… 
and are conducted in conformance with a 

Tribal-State compact…”
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Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA)

“The State must
negotiate in good faith

when a compact or 
amendment is requested

by a Tribe”
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Negotiation Topics

Casino-style gaming activities

Criminal and civil jurisdiction

Fees for state regulation

Remedies for breach of contract

Standards of operation



8

Class III Gaming Compact Process 9.46.360 
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Public Protection Interests

No criminal involvement

Gaming conducted fairly, honestly

Gaming limited to authorized activities

Minimize negative impacts on local law 
enforcement, emergency services
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Summary of Compact Changes

Allow Class III gaming at Tribe’s Class II facility
Add responsible gambling program

& problem gambling funding
Update community contribution language



Questions?
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Today

Hold hearing

Answer questions

Vote to:
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or
2) Return to Director for 
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Staff Recommendation
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Special Olympics Washington  

Enhanced Raffle Plan 2019 
“Special Olympics Washington Dream House Raffle” 

 
 
Purpose 
 
The Special Olympics Washington Dream House Raffle is being conducted to provide the necessary resources 
for the organization to grow its athlete base.  Currently Special Olympics Washington (“SOWA” or “Special 
Olympics WA”) serves 17,500 athletes across the state. However, there are nearly 180,000 individuals in 
Washington State with intellectual disabilities. The organization’s goal is to triple the number of athletes by 
2020 and in the years ahead to reach everyone with an intellectual disability.  This year, Seattle hosted the 
Special Olympics USA Game where 240 Special Olympic WA athletes competed in 14 different sports.  As a 
result of the increased awareness the USA Games brought to the movement, Special Olympics WA has seen 
an increase in the number of athletes locally who want to become a Special Olympics athlete.  With the funds 
earned from the “Dream House Raffle”, Special Olympics WA can continue the journey of reaching into every 
corner of the state to make sure EVERYONE has the opportunity to be tested like Champions! 
 
About Special Olympics Washington 
 
Special Olympics Washington was incorporated in 1975 and has the vision to help bring all persons with 
intellectual disabilities into the larger society under conditions whereby they are accepted, respected and given 
the chance to become useful and productive citizens.  The mission of Special Olympics Washington is to 
provide year-round sports training and athletic competition in a variety of Olympic type sports for children and 
adults with intellectual disabilities, giving them continuing opportunities to develop physical fitness, 
demonstrate courage, experience joy and participate in the sharing of gifts, skills and friendship with their 
families, other Special Olympics athletes and the community.  Special Olympics Washington currently serves 
more than 17,500 athletes and has a support system of nearly 8,000 volunteers.  The organization is part of 
Special Olympics International, which serves more than 4 million athletes in more than 180 countries.  Special 
Olympics Washington is a 501(c)(3) organization in Washington State. 
 
MISSION: Special Olympics Washington BUILDS communities and LEADS in wellness through Sports & 
Inclusion. 
 
About Our Athletes 
 
Once an athlete joins Special Olympics, he or she typically participates in three sports per year.  Special 
Olympics becomes a year-round endeavor bringing new friends, greater self-esteem and a place for family 
members to connect.  50% of Special Olympics athletes are employed vs. only 2% of those who have an 
intellectual disability but who are not currently competing.  Once an athlete joins Special Olympics, they can 
participate until they can no longer compete.  We have seen athletes in their 70s.   
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SPECIAL OLYMPICS WASHINGTON 
Enhanced Raffle Rules 

2019 
 
Special Olympics Washington (SOWA), a tax exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code, is conducting this raffle pursuant to SB 5723, Washington Administrative Code 230-03-152, 
to raise funds for ongoing charitable purposes.  The Rules and Regulations of the SOWA raffle are set forth 
below.  By purchasing a raffle ticket the purchaser agrees to be bound by these rules and regulations.  SOWA’s 
interpretation and application of the rules and regulations shall be final. 
 
The Grand Prize Drawing for Special Olympics Washington Dream House Raffle will be held on Friday, May 
10, 2019 at the Seattle Center, Seattle WA.  All early bird drawings will be held at 2815 2nd Ave, Suite 370, 
Seattle, WA  98121.   Tickets will not be sold after April 26, 2019.  Tickets may sell out before that time. An 
independent raffle auditor will supervise the drawing. The drawing for prizes may be open to the public, but 
the winner does not need to be present to win. 

Only 65,000 tickets will be sold. The chances of winning are based on that number. If fewer tickets are sold, 
the chances of winning the Grand Prize and other prizes improve.  The IRS has taken the position that amounts 
paid for chances in raffles, lotteries or similar drawings for valuable prizes are not gifts, and consequently do 
not qualify as deductible charitable contributions. 
 
The Grand Prize Winner assumes all fees, local, state and federal taxes (including but not limited to income 
taxes based on the value of the prize).  Likewise, there are federal taxes and there may be state and/or local tax 
consequences if the winner selects the alternate cash prize (See Prizes section below). These consequences 
may apply to other prizes as well.  SOWA takes no responsibility for any tax liabilities. Consult your tax 
advisor.  This offer is void where prohibited by law, and all federal, state and local laws and regulations apply.  
 
By entering this raffle, entrants accept and agree (1) to be bound by all the rules, limitations and restrictions 
set forth here and (2) that their names and/or likenesses may be disclosed to and used by the news media and 
may otherwise be used by SOWA for publicity purposes and in lists of prize winners to be published in area 
newspapers and announced on the SOWA raffle website.  SOWA will provide purchasers all raffle information 
as required by WAC 230-11-015.  Other rules and regulations may apply.  Please contact SOWA if you have 
questions.  SOWA’s interpretation and application of the rules and regulations shall be final. 
 
By entering this raffle, each participant releases SOWA, its directors, officers, employees and agents from any 
and all liability for injuries, losses or damages of any kind caused by participating in the raffle or winning any 
prize or resulting from acceptance, possession, use or misuse of any prize, and each winner agrees to indemnify 
and hold SOWA harmless from any and all losses, damages, rights, claims and actions of any kind rising in 
connection with or as a result of participating in the raffle or the winner’s acceptance or use of any prize.  
 
 
Tickets: 
Tickets are $150 each, 3-pack for $400, or 5-pack for $550.  Only one method of payment, one name, and one 
mailing address are permitted per ticket pack.  Only one eligible person may be entered in the raffle per ticket 
sold. If the name of more than one person is submitted with a ticket purchase, and that ticket is selected as a 
winning ticket, then the person named first will be deemed the holder of record of that ticket and declared the 
winner regardless of who paid for the ticket.  Division of prize by a group purchasing a ticket in common shall 
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be to the sole responsibility of the person named as the holder of record of that ticket, should that ticket be 
selected as a winner. 
 
Early ticket purchases will be included in up to three drawings.  Tickets purchased by February 22, 2019, will 
be eligible for the Early Bird Drawing 1 (drawing date:  March 7, 2019).  Tickets purchased by March 22, 
2019, will be eligible for the Early Bird Drawing 2 (drawing date:  April 11, 2019).  All such tickets, including 
all winning tickets from Early Bird Drawings, will be included in applicable subsequent drawings as well as 
the Grand Prize Drawing.   Tickets purchased by April 26, 2019, will be eligible for the Grand Prize Drawing 
(drawing date:  May 10, 2019).    
 
50/50 Add-On Tickets are one for $20, 3-pack for $50 or 6-pack for $75. 
Rules for purchasing 50/50 Add-On tickets are as follows: 

• Only one method of payment and only one mailing address are permitted. 
• Only one name can be listed per ticket. 
• 50/50 Add-On Tickets must be ordered at the same time as your Dream House Raffle ticket order.  
• 50/50 Add-On orders will not be accepted after your original raffle ticket order date. 

 
SOWA reserves the right to reject any entry form that is submitted with payment that does not constitute “good 
funds.”  All defective or physically altered entry forms will be immediately disqualified by SOWA. Prior to 
the Grand Prize Drawing, SOWA will make a reasonable effort to notify the individual and/or entity that 
submits such an entry form or one which has been rejected because the credit card or check did not clear that 
the entry has been rejected by attempting to make contact through the information provided at the time of 
submitting the purchase request.   All orders for tickets for the Early Bird Drawings must be received and/or 
purchased by the indicated deadline.   Any orders received after these deadlines will be held for the subsequent 
drawings, if applicable and Grand Prize Drawing.  SOWA assumes no responsibility for lost, late, misdirected 
or non-delivered mail or fax messages, or any other failure to receive orders or deliver receipts prior to the 
drawing deadlines.  
 
A raffle participant's sole and exclusive remedy for SOWA's breach shall be limited to the return of the 
purchase price paid for his or her raffle ticket(s).   In no event shall SOWA, its directors, officers, employees, 
agents or representatives be liable to any party for any loss or injuries to earnings, profits or goodwill, or for 
any incidental, special, punitive or consequential damages of any person or entity whether arising in contract, 
tort or otherwise, even if advised of the possibility of such damages. 
 
How to Purchase:   
To purchase tickets: use the order form provided and fax the order form to 206-TBD, or you may mail it to 
SOWA Dream House Raffle, 2815 2nd Avenue, Suite 370 Seattle, WA  98121 or call 1-888-537-7518, 
providing your name, address, phone number along with your credit card number, credit card security code 
and expiration date.  Tickets cannot be purchased on the raffle website or by email.  Any entry form submitted 
by email will be rejected.   All entries must include payment by cash, check, money order or credit card in US 
dollars. SOWA reserves the right to reject any entry form that is submitted with payment that does not 
constitute "good funds."   No refunds will be made except under the following circumstances: any ticket order 
with payment received after 65,000 tickets have been sold or after April 26, 2019, will be returned.   No other 
refunds are available except in the exclusive discretion of SOWA.  SOWA assumes no responsibility for lost, 
late, misdirected or non-delivered mail or fax messages, or any other failure to receive orders or deliver receipts 
prior to the drawing deadlines.  
 
Selection of Winners:   
The Special Olympics Washington Dream House Raffle Grand Prize Drawing will be held on May 10, 2019 
from all eligible raffle tickets.  Winners need not be present to win. SOWA will conduct the Early Bird 
drawings on March 7, 2019 (Early Bird Drawing 1) and April 11 (Early Bird Drawing 2).  The Bonus Multi-
Ticket Drawing and 50/50 Add-On Drawing (See Bonus Drawings) will be held on May 10, 2019.  The Bonus 
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Multi-Ticket Drawing, 50/50 Add-On Drawing, and Grand Prize Drawing will be held under the supervision 
of an independent raffle auditor.  The Grand Prize Drawing, 50/50 Add-On Drawing, and Multi-Ticket 
Drawing, will be held on Friday, May 10, 2019 at the Seattle Center, Seattle WA.  All early bird drawings will 
be held at 2815 2nd Avenue, Suite 370, Seattle, WA  98121.   All drawings may be open to the public or 
available for viewing on television.  Winners will be notified according to the contact information provided to 
SOWA at the time of ticket purchase.  If the grand prize winner cannot be located by 5:00 p.m., May 24, 2019, 
after attempting to make contact through the information provided at the time of purchasing the ticket, such 
winner will be deemed to have elected the onetime cash alternate prize and another winner will not be selected 
for such prize.  In addition to the list of winners posted on the SOWA raffle web site, a list of winners may be 
obtained from SOWA or by sending a self-address, stamped envelope to Special Olympics Washington Dream 
House Raffle, 2815 2nd Avenue, Suite 370, Seattle, WA  98121 within one week of the drawing. 
 
In order to collect prizes valued greater than $4,999, a ticket winner must sign and deliver to SOWA:  (a) a 
sworn affidavit of eligibility in accordance with these Rules and applicable law, including without limitation 
that he or she is at least 18 years old; (b) such written information as is required by any applicable tax and/or 
real estate laws, including without limitation his or her Social Security Number; (c) proof of identity in forms 
satisfactory to the SOWA showing that the person claiming the prize is the same person who is named on the 
winning raffle ticket.; and (d) the winning ticket stub.  Winners of prizes of $5,000 or more may be required 
to submit a W-2G, Form 5754 or similar tax form (provided by SOWA) for tax withholding purposes.  
 
Winning Odds:   
The odds of winning a prize will depend on the number of tickets sold.  If all 65,000 tickets are sold the odds 
of winning the Grand Prize is 1 in 65,000. If fewer tickets are sold, the chance of winning the Grand Prize, 
Early Bird Prizes and all secondary prizes improves.  The odds to win a prize are no less than 1 in 20. 
 
Eligibility:   
Anyone 18 years of age or older may enter.  SOWA employees, members of the Board of Directors, authorized 
agents and employees thereof, consultants, attorneys, independent accountant firm, and their spouses and 
children living in the same household are excluded from participating and are not eligible to win a prize.  All 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations apply.  The raffle is void where prohibited or restricted by law.  
An affidavit of eligibility may be required from prize winners. 
 
 
 
Prizes:   
The Grand Prize is the home located within the Puget Sound area of Washington, and a detailed description 
will be referred to in all raffle materials.  Alternatively, the Grand Prize winner may elect to receive an annuity 
of $4,000,000 paid over 20 years or a onetime $2,800,000 cash payment (except as stated below) based on 
65,000 tickets sold.  The Grand Prize Winner must make an election in writing between the house, the annuity, 
or the onetime cash payment no later than 5:00 p.m. May 24, 2019.  In the event of circumstances outside of 
the control of SOWA such as but not limited to: fire, earthquake, foreclosure and as determined by SOWA, 
the Grand Prize Winner will instead have no election as stated above and will instead have an election between 
an annuity of $4,000,000 paid over 20 years or a onetime $2,800,000 cash payment (except as stated below).  
A minimum of 62,000 tickets must be sold by April 26, 2019 for the Grand Prize Winner to have a choice of 
the House, the annuity of $4,000,000 paid over 20 years, or a onetime $2,800,000 cash payment alternate prize. 
If fewer than 62,000 tickets are sold by April 26, 2019, the raffle will be held as scheduled, and prizes will be 
awarded as advertised with the exception that the Grand Prize Winner will receive a choice between sum equal 
to 50% of the Net Raffle Proceeds paid as an annuity over 20 years, not to exceed $4,000,000 or a onetime 
cash payment of 70% of the annuity value, not to exceed $2,800,000. Net Raffle Proceeds will be calculated 
based on SOWA accounting, which shall be final and conclusive with respect to the Grand Prize Winner. For 
these purposes “Net Raffle Proceeds” are defined as the balance of funds left after paying all other prizes, all 
raffle expenses and all expenses for the House.  SOWA will estimate the final prize (“Estimate Prize”) just 
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prior to the Grand Prize drawing so as to award 90% of the estimated prize payment.  No later than 120 days 
from the drawing date, SOWA will verify that all expenses have been accounted for and a final Net amount 
will be calculated (“Actual Prize”). SOWA will issue a final check to the Grand Prize winner based on the 
difference between the Actual Prize and the Estimated Prize payment along with an updated W-2G. 
 
All vehicles come base model factory equipped and winner(s) are also solely responsible for any and all state 
or local license, title, registration, cost differential between the value of the car and the cash alternate prize, 
taxes, or fees associated with the vehicle, as well as insurance (proof of which must be shown prior to delivery) 
and pickup or delivery costs at the dealership as well as any non-standard options chosen by the winner and 
negotiated with the dealership. All winners of vehicles must make an election in writing between the vehicle 
and the alternative cash payment no later than 5:00 p.m. on the fifth business day after the drawing.  All 
contracted vehicles are subject to availability at the automobile dealer selected by SOWA and may be 
substituted with a comparable vehicle by SOWA or with the cash alternate prize. 
 
Vacation travel prizes are for two economy round trip tickets from any continental US airport to the destination 
city and for one double occupancy standard hotel room in the destination city unless otherwise noted on the 
raffle website.  Please note that some vacation travel is for land only and does not include airfare.  All vacation 
and travel prizes are subject to space and availability. All gratuities, taxes and fees are the responsibility of the 
winner and each vacation prize has a maximum value of five thousand dollars in total. Winners of travel related 
prizes must comply with all applicable requirements and restrictions related to said prizes including without 
limitation applicable travel dates, age restrictions, liability waivers, travel documentation and reservation and 
confirmation procedures.  All contracted vacations are subject to availability and may be substituted with a 
comparable vacation prize or with a cash alternate prize. 
 
All unclaimed prizes will be returned to Special Olympics Washington 60 days after the Grand prize drawing 
date. 
 
Early Bird Drawings: 
 
Early Bird Drawing 1 
Winner's choice between a TBD or $50,000* 
 
Early Bird Drawing 2 
Winner's choice between a vacation to TBD or $10,000 cash* 
 
 
Grand Prize Drawing:  
 
Grand Prize: The Dream House $4,800,000 or $4,000,000 annuity or $2,800,000 cash option* 
2nd Prize: Winner’s choice between a TBD or $50,000 cash* 
3rd Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $10,000 cash* 
4th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash * 
5th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
6th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
7th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
8th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
9th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
10th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
 
Prizes 11-3250 
TBD 
*Except as stated above 
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Bonus Drawing: 
Multi-Ticket Drawing 
1st Prize: Winner's choice between TBD or $50,000 
Any individual who buys three or more tickets will be entered into the Multi-Ticket Drawing, subject to the 
following; to be eligible entrants must purchase three or more tickets during the same purchase, using one 
method of payment, using the same name on each ticket, and the same mailing address for each eligible ticket. 
For each eligible ticket purchased, a corresponding eligible ticket will be added into the Multi-Ticket Drawing. 
Three tickets purchased will have three tickets entered into the Multi-Ticket Drawing. Four tickets purchased 
will have four tickets entered into the Multi-Ticket Drawing, etc. Multiple tickets purchased at the same time 
are eligible for discounts. Multiple tickets can be purchased individually or a 3-pack for $400, or 5-pack for 
$550. 
 
50/50 Add-On Drawing: 
Prize:  Winner will be awarded 50% of the gross proceeds of the 50/50 Add On raffle.   
50/50 Add-On Tickets are one for $20, 3-pack for $50 or 6-pack for $75.   
Rules for purchasing 50/50 Add-On tickets are as follows: 
Only one method of payment and only one mailing address are permitted. 
Only one name can be listed per ticket. 
50/50 Add-On Tickets must be ordered at the same time as your Dream House Raffle ticket order.  
50/50 Add-On orders will not be accepted after your original raffle ticket order date. 
 
General Terms and Conditions:   
No express warranties are given and no affirmation of SOWA by words and/or actions will constitute a 
warranty.  The House, if selected, will be transferred to the Grand Prize Winner “as is, where is, and with all 
faults”. SOWA does not provide any guarantee or warranty, expressed or implied, in connection with the House 
and accepts no liability or responsibility regarding the construction or condition of the House. SOWA does not 
warrant that the house is of mercantile quality or that it can be used for any particular purpose.  No express 
warranties are given and no affirmation of SOWA by words and/or actions will constitute a warranty.   
 
At the time of closing, all federal and state income taxes based on the value of the House will be due from the 
Grand Prize Winner. If the Grand Prize Winner selects the annuity or the onetime cash payment as well as 
winners of Early Bird Prizes, Multi-Ticket Prize, 50/50 Add-On Prize, and Secondary Prizes of $5,000 or more, 
all appropriate and required federal and state taxes will be withheld by SOWA in accordance with federal and 
state law and SOWA will remit the balance of the cash prizes to the winners. SOWA makes no guarantee that 
the Grand Prize Winner will be able to sell the House for the value of $4,800,000 nor is there any guarantee 
that the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) will accept that value of the house for the purpose of determining any 
income tax that may be due from the winner. SOWA takes no responsibility for any tax liabilities. Consult 
your tax advisor.  
 
Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to the contract, or the breach thereof, shall be settled by 
binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association (pursuant to its expedited 
procedures) under its Commercial Arbitration Rules, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator 
may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 
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C (i)  Dates of raffle and drawing: 
January 21 –  Start date 
February 22 –  Early Bird 1 deadline 
March 7 –  Early Bird 1 drawing  
March 22 –  Early Bird 2 deadline 
April 11 –  Early Bird 2 drawing 
April 26 –  Grand Prize Deadline 
May 10 –  Grand Prize, Multi-Ticket, and 50/50 Add-On Drawings 
 

 
C(ii)  Cost of raffle ticket: 
Tickets are $150 each, or 3-tickets for $400, or 5 tickets for $550 
50/50 Add-On Tickets are one for $20, 3-pack for $50 or 6-pack for $75.   
 
 
C(iii)  Prizes available: 

Grand Prize: The Dream House or $4,000,000 annuity or $2,800,000 cash option 
2nd Prize: Winner’s choice between a TBD or $50,000 cash* 
3rd Prize:  Vacation to TBD $10,000 cash* 
4th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
5th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
6th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
7th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
8th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
9th Prize: TBD or $5,000 cash* 
10th Prize:  Vacation to TBD or $5,000 cash* 
 
Prizes 11- 3250: 
TBD 
 
*Except as stated above 
 

 
 
Bonus Drawings: 
Multi-Ticket Drawing 
Prize:  TBD or $50,000 cash 
 
50/50 Add-On Drawing 
Prize:  50% the gross proceeds of the 50/50 Add On raffle 
 

 
 

C(iv)  Security of prizes: 
Prizes including cash, vacations, and cars, which will be purchased and awarded after each 
applicable drawing with raffle revenue, thus prizes don’t need to be protected since they are 
not being purchased prior to the raffle drawing.  Add-On Sales will be recorded in a separate 
account code based on the sales report/ticket ledger and deposited into the main Raffle bank 
account.  50% of the sales of Add-On tickets will be distributed to the 50/50 raffle winner. 
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C(v)  Plans for selling raffle tickets: 
Raffle tickets will be sold via phone, fax, mail, and in person. 
Please refer to the Raffle Ticket Process document attachment (Attachment A) 
 

       C(vi)  Description of how the integrity of the raffle will be protected: 
Special Olympics will conduct an audit of ticket stubs prior to each drawing.   The audit will 
be performed by the CEO who will use an excel generated random list of tickets to audit.  The 
tickets will be made up of the entire population of tickets sold, both active and voided.  The 
sample size will be no less than 90 tickets. 
 
All ticket purchases proceeds of the raffle, whether the tickets are sold in the SOWA office by 
SOWA designated staff or through the call center, will be deposited into a Special Olympics 
WA raffle account which is separate from the Organization’s general operating funds. 
 
An employee of Special Olympics WA will draw all winning raffle tickets. 
 

d)   Explanation of how the proceeds from the raffle will be used: 
Funds will be used to further drive the vision of Special Olympics Washington as described on page 1 
of this document. 

 
e) Plan to protect the licensee in the event of low ticket sales and other risks: 

In the event the bona fide charitable or nonprofit organization determines ticket sales are insufficient 
to qualify for a complete enhanced raffle to move forward, the enhanced raffle winner must receive 
fifty percent of the net proceeds in excess of expenses as the grand prize.  The enhanced raffle winner 
will receive a choice between an annuity value equal to fifty percent of the net proceeds in excess of 
expense paid by annuity over 20 years, or a one-time cash payment of seventy percent of the annuity 
value.  In no case will the grand prize be less than $50,000. Unless, the raffle ticket sales fall at or 
below the breakeven amount of 17,391 tickets sold, and net proceeds in excess of expenses produce a 
negative value, Special Olympics Washington will consider refunding all purchases and cancelling the 
raffle due to insufficient sales of tickets or issuing a flat $5,000 to the Grand Prize winner. 

 
f)  Explanation of how the prize(s) will be purchased for the raffle: 

Cash prizes are offered from the sale of raffle tickets.  Non-cash prizes, such as vacations and cars will 
be purchased if the winner chooses such prize in lieu of cash.   
 

g) Projected budget including the following – (Attachment B) 
(i)  Estimated gross gambling receipts, expenses, and net income for the raffle  
(ii) Corresponding sales and prize levels with projected revenues and expenses for each level.  
(iii) Minimum and maximum prizes available. 

 
 

 
h) SOWA’s dedicated employee is Meryl Newman. 
i) NZ Consulting Inc. will be the licensed service supplier 
j) Hosni Enterprises LLC will be our licensed Call Center 
k) Raffle Ticket Process Document (Attachment A) 



SPECIAL OLYMPICS WA
WSGC Ticket Sales
2019
S:\Raffle\2019\WSGC Plan and Budget\[2019 WSGC Format with breakeven.xlsx]Sheet1

Breakeven

Annuity 
$300k/Lump 
Sum $210k 

GP

$4M 
Annuity or 

$2.8M Lump 
sum GP House GP

Total # of Tickets 17,391         22,515            62,000         62,000         

Average Price/ticket 125$            125$               125$            125$            

GROSS SALES 2,173,875    2,814,375       7,750,000    7,750,000    

Expenses:
Advertising 627,564       627,564          627,564       627,564       Fixed
Professional Fees 350,306       438,052          1,114,250    1,114,250    Variable
Postage 543,213       543,213          543,213       543,213       Fixed
Personnel 70,884         70,884            70,884         70,884         Fixed
Sales Expense 72,760         72,760            72,760         72,760         Fixed
Prize Expense 445,000       445,000          445,000       445,000       Fixed
Regulatory Expense 14,148         16,902            36,800         36,800         Variable
TOTAL EXPENSE 2,123,875    2,214,375       2,910,471    2,910,471    

NET INCOME BEFORE GP 50,000         600,000          4,839,529    4,839,529    

Grand Prize - Annuity N/A 300,000          4,000,000    N/A

Grand Prize - Lump Sum 50,000         210,000          2,800,000    N/A

Net to SOWA - Lump Sum Pymt 0                  390,000          2,039,529    N/A

Net to SOWA - Annuity N/A 360,000          1,639,529    N/A

Grand Prize - House N/A N/A N/A 4,730,000    

Net to SOWA - House Option N/A N/A N/A 109,529       



 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
 
November 1, 2018 
 
 
TO:  COMMISSIONERS:  
  Bud Sizemore, Chair 
  Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 

Christopher Stearns 
Ed Troyer 
Alicia Levy 

 
FROM: Haylee P. Mills, Staff Attorney  
  Legal and Records Division 

 
SUBJECT:  Joey D. Neal, CR 2018-00475 
  Final Order – November 15, 2018 Commission Meeting 
 
Mr. Joey D. Neal had a gambling license authorizing Public Card Room Employee activity at Lilac 
Lanes and Casino in Spokane, Washington.  His license expires on January 30, 2019.   
 
On January 31, 2018, Mr. Neal applied for a gambling license by submitting an application 
containing information that was submitted under penalty of perjury.  On the application, Mr. Neal 
disclosed some of his criminal history information, but failed to disclose a Theft Second Degree 
conviction in Cowlitz County Superior Court.  
 
Director Trujillo issued a Notice of Administrative Charges on July 17, 2018, to Mr. Neal by 
regular and certified mail to the last address the Gambling Commission had on file.  A request for 
hearing was received on July 24, 2018, and a prehearing was scheduled for October 17, 2018.  Mr. 
Neal was sent notice of the prehearing conference on September 18, 2018, to the address he 
provided on his hearing request form.  Mr. Neal failed to appear at the prehearing conference, and 
a default order dismissing appeal was issued on October 17, 2018. 
 
Mr. Neal’s failure to attend the prehearing conference is a waiver of Mr. Neal’s right to a hearing 
in Case No. CR 2018-00475.  You may take final action against his gambling license.  Based on 
his conduct, Mr. Neal cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that he is qualified to keep 
his gambling license.  Therefore, staff recommends that the Commission sign the proposed final 
order and revoke Joey D. Neal’s Public Card Room Employee License, Number 68-34678. 
 



 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
 
November 1, 2018 
 
 
TO:  COMMISSIONERS:  
  Bud Sizemore, Chair 
  Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 

Christopher Stearns 
Ed Troyer 
Alicia Levy 

 
FROM: Haylee P. Mills, Staff Attorney  
  Legal and Records Division 

 
SUBJECT:  James K. Reese, CR 2018-00845 
  Final Order – November 15, 2018 Commission Meeting 
 
Mr. James K. Reese has a gambling certification authorizing Class III Employee activity at 
Nisqually Red Wind Casino in Olympia, Washington.  His certification expires on May 22, 2019.   
 
In June 2017, Mr. Reese was charged in Thurston County Superior for Class C Felonies of 
domestic violence unlawful imprisonment and harassment. In January 2018, Mr. Reese agreed to 
enter into a diversion program and his criminal charges would be reduced to misdemeanor 
domestic violence harassment if he successfully completes the program. Otherwise, he would 
likely be found guilty of the felony charges. Mr. Reese chose not to notify the Gambling 
Commission of his criminal case on his April 12, 2018 renewal application.   
 
On May 17, 2018, Gambling Commission staff notified the Nisqually Tribal Gaming Agency that 
it would seek revocation of Mr. Reese’s certification, and on June 15, 2018, Mr. Reese resigned 
from his position at Nisqually Red Winds Casino.  
 
Director Trujillo issued Mr. Reese a Notice of Administrative Charges on September 11, 2018, by 
regular and certified mail to his last known address on file. Both sets of charges were returned on 
September 26, 2018 as “Return to Sender, Not Deliverable as Addressed, Unable to Forward.”  As 
of the date of this memo, the Commission has not received any response from Mr. Reese. 
 
Mr. Reese’s failure to respond to the charges or request a hearing is a waiver of Mr. Reese’s right 
to a hearing in Case No. CR 2018-00845.  You may take final action against his gambling 
certification.  Based on his conduct, Mr. Reese cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that 
he is qualified to keep his gambling certification.  Therefore, staff recommends that the 
Commission sign the proposed final order and revoke James K. Reese’s Class III Employee 
certification, Number 69-38122. 



Tab 6:  NOVEMBER 2018 Commission Meeting Agenda.     Statutory Authority 9.46.070 

Who Proposed the Rule Change? 

Stacey Hess, Great American Gambling Corporation, Tukwila, WA. 

Background 

Ms. Hess requested a rule change to allow a card room to have two people, instead of the currently required 
three people, conduct a soft count if the licensee uses an automated bill counter.   

The Commission accepted the petition at the March 15, 2018 public meeting. A demonstration of how an 
automated bill counter is used during soft count occurred at the April 12, 2018 public meeting.   

Rule Changes and Licensees Impacted 

Currently all 46 house-banked card rooms must use a three member soft count team. With the proposed 
rules, soft count requirements would be based on the card room’s gross gambling receipts in their previous 
license year.   

We looked at the soft count team requirements in ten states. Six states require a three-member soft count 
team; the other four allowed two member teams. The proposed rule changes for discussion align with the 
soft count requirements of other states and our tribal facilities while still meeting the petitioner’s needs.  

On August 3, 2018, we sent a summary of the rule changes and the proposed rule language to the house-
banked card room licensees (HBCR).   

Attachments: 

• August 3, 2018 email to HBCR licensees with a summary of the rule changes and proposed rule
language.

• Email from Phil Ziegler, Manager, Emerald Downs.

Petition for Rule Change to  
WAC 230-15-610 Preparing to conduct a count 

WAC 230-15-615 Conducting the count 

November 2018 – Final Action 
October 2018 – Further Discussion 

September 2018 – Discussion and Possible Filing 
April 2018 – Soft Count Demonstration 

March 2018 – Request to Initiate Rule-Making 



Summary of proposed rule changes: 
Card Room 

Gross 
Gambling 

Receipts in the 
Previous 

Fiscal Year 

Rule Changes 

Requirements for 
Currency Counter 
Used with a Two 

Person Count Team 

Changes to the Count 
Process if a Currency 

Counter is Used with a 
Two Person Count Team 

Number of 
HBCRs 

Based on 
2016 Fiscal 

Year 
Reporting 

Information 
Less than $5 
million 

• Two person team
allowed with approval.

• The approval process
for a two person count
team.

• A surveillance
employee must observe
the entire count process.

27 

Between $5 
million and 
$15 million 

• Two person count team
allowed, with approval,
if a currency counter is
used as outlined in the
rule.

• The approval process
for a two person count
team.

• A surveillance
employee must observe
the entire count process
as it occurs.

• New requirements for
currency counters used
with a two person count
team.

• Changes to the count
process if a currency
counter is used with a
two person count team.

• Must
automatically
provide two
separate counts of
the funds at
different stages in
the count process.

• Display the total
bill count and
dollar amount on a
screen that will be
recorded by
surveillance
during the count.

• Prior to each count, the
accuracy of the
currency counter must
be verified.

• Able to combine
currency from a drop
box to be counted by
currency counter.

• A surveillance
employee must record
in the surveillance log
the currency
verification amount
prior to the count, the
total bill and dollar
count of each drop box
and the combined
dollar count of all drop
boxes as the count is
occurring.

21 

More than $15 
million 

• A surveillance
employee must observe
the entire count process
as it occurs.

1 

New HBCR • Must have a three
person count team until
the licensee submits
financial statements to
us indicating their card
room gross gambling
receipts in their
previous license year.



Stakeholder Feedback 
Phil Ziegler, Emerald Downs, sent an email in support. 

Victor Mena, Washington Gold Casinos, spoke in support of the new rule language and each of his 
properties may save $1,000 in payroll, which is significant for his card rooms. 

Staff Recommendation 
Final Action. 

Effective Date 
January 1, 2019. 



AMENDATORY SECTION (Amending WSR 07-09-033, filed 4/10/07, effective
1/1/08)

WAC 230-15-610  Preparing to conduct a count.  (1) House-banked
card game licensees must assign licensed employees to conduct the
count. ((The count team must be made up of three or more licensed em-
ployees.)) The count team must not include anyone who works in the
surveillance department or whose duties included preparing, approving,
or reviewing records used in ((that)) the specific count process.
(((2))) Count team requirements are based on the licensee's card room
gross gambling receipts in their previous fiscal year:

Card Room Gross 
Gambling Receipts

Minimum Count Team 
Requirements

Less than $5 million. Two person count team.
$5 million to $15 million. Three person count team 

or two person count team 
if a currency counter is 
used as outlined in this 
chapter.

More than $15 million. Three person count team.
A new house-banked card 
room whose financial 
statements have not yet 
been submitted to us.

Three person count team.

(2) Prior to using a two person count team, the licensee must re-
ceive approval from the director or their designee. The approval will
be based on the licensee:

(a) Meeting the card room gross gambling receipts requirements in
their previous fiscal year; and

(b) Having internal controls in place to prevent both under-re-
porting and misappropriation of funds; and

(c) Having demonstrated following their internal controls to pre-
vent both under-reporting and misappropriation of funds based on their
administrative history; and

(d) Having a currency counter, which complies with commission
rules, and internal controls for the use of the currency counter. This
applies for those licensees with card room gross gambling receipts of
$5 million to $15 million.

(3) Licensees must accurately count and record the contents of
drop boxes to ensure the proper accountability of all gambling chips,
coin, and currency. The count must be done at least once each gambling
day.

(((3))) (4) If a cage cashier completes the opener, closer,
fills, and credits portions of the master game report, the cashier
sends the original master game report to the count team for comple-
tion. The cage cashier must immediately send a copy directly to the
accounting department.

(((4))) (5) A count team member must notify the surveillance room
observer that the count is about to begin. The surveillance employee
must then observe the count as it occurs and make a video and audio
recording of the entire count process.

(((5))) (6) Before opening drop boxes, the count team must lock
the door to the count room. Licensees must permit no person to enter
or leave the count room, except for a normal work break or an emergen-
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cy, until the count team has completed the entire counting, recording, 
and verification process for the contents of drop boxes.

AMENDATORY SECTION (Amending WSR 07-09-033, filed 4/10/07, effective 
1/1/08)

WAC 230-15-615  Conducting the count.  (1) All house-banked card 
room licensees must have a three person count team except as set forth 
in subsections (2) and (3) of this section. The three person count 
team must conduct the count as follows:

(a) The contents of drop boxes must not be combined before the 
count team separately counts and records the contents of each box; and

(((2))) (b) As each drop box is placed on the count table, a 
count team member must announce the game, table number, and shift, if 
applicable, loudly enough to be heard by all persons present and to be 
recorded by the audio recording equipment; and

(((3))) (c) A count team member must empty the contents onto the 
count table; and

(((4))) (d) Immediately after the contents are emptied onto the 
count table, a count team member must display the inside of the drop 
box to the closed circuit television camera, and show it to at least 
one other count team member to confirm that all contents of the drop 
box have been removed. A count team member must then lock the drop box 
and place it in the drop box storage area; and

(((5))) (e) Count team member(s) must separate the contents of 
each drop box into separate stacks on the count table by denominations 
of coin, chips, and currency and by type of form, record, or document; 
and

(((6))) (f) At least two count team members must count, either 
manually or mechanically, each denomination of coin, chips, and cur-
rency separately and independently. Count team members must place in-
dividual bills and coins of the same denomination on the count table 
in full view of the closed circuit television cameras, and at least 
one other count team member must observe and confirm the accuracy of 
the count orally or in writing; and

(((7))) (g) As the contents of each drop box are counted, a mem-
ber of the count team must record the total amount of coin, chips, and 
currency counted (the drop) on the master games report; and

(((8))) (h) If a cage cashier has recorded the opener, closer, 
fill slips, and credit slips on the master game report before the 
count, a count team member must compare the series numbers and totals 
recorded on the master game report to the fill slips, credit slips, 
and table inventory slips removed from the drop boxes, confirm the ac-
curacy of the totals, and must record, by game and shift, the totals 
we require on the master game report. Otherwise, the count team must 
complete all required information on the master game report; and

(((9))) (i) The accounting department may complete the win/loss 
portions of the master game report independently from the count team 
if this is properly documented in the approved internal controls.

(2) The two person count team for licensees with card game gross 
gambling receipts of less than $5 million in their previous fiscal 
year must conduct the count as follows:

(a) The contents of drop boxes must not be combined before the 
count team separately counts and records the contents of each box; and
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(b) As each drop box is placed on the count table, a count team 
member must announce the game, table number, and shift, if applicable, 
loudly enough to be heard by all persons present and to be recorded by 
the audio recording equipment; and

(c) A count team member must empty the contents onto the count 
table; and

(d) Immediately after the contents are emptied onto the count ta-
ble, a count team member must display the inside of the drop box to 
the closed circuit television camera, and show it to at least one oth-
er count team member to confirm that all contents of the drop box have 
been removed. A count team member must then lock the drop box and 
place it in the drop box storage area; and

(e) A count team member must separate the contents of each drop 
box into separate stacks on the count table by denominations of coin, 
chips, and currency and by type of form, record, or document; and

(f) One count team member must count, either manually or mechani-
cally, each denomination of coin, chips, and currency separately and 
independently. The count team member must place individual bills and 
coins of the same denomination on the count table in full view of the 
closed circuit television cameras, and the other count team member 
must observe and confirm the accuracy of the count orally or in writ-
ing; and

(g) As the contents of each drop box are counted, a member of the 
count team must record the total amount of coin, chips, and currency 
counted (the drop) on the master games report; and

(h) As the count is occurring, a surveillance employee must re-
cord in the surveillance log the total chip and currency count of each 
drop box and the announcement by the count team of the combined dollar 
count of all drop boxes; and

(i) If a cage cashier has recorded the opener, closer, fill 
slips, and credit slips on the master game report before the count, a 
count team member must compare the series numbers and totals recorded 
on the master game report to the fill slips, credit slips, and table 
inventory slips removed from the drop boxes, confirm the accuracy of 
the totals, and must record, by game and shift, the totals we require 
on the master game report. Otherwise, the count team must complete all 
required information on the master game report; and

(j) The accounting department may complete the win/loss portions 
of the master game report independently from the count team if this is 
properly documented in the approved internal controls.

(3) The two person count team for licensees with card game gross 
gambling receipts between $5 million and $15 million in their previous 
fiscal year and use a currency counter must conduct the count as fol-
lows:

(a) The currency counter to be used must meet the following re-
quirements:

(i) Automatically provides two separate counts of the funds at 
different stages in the count process. If the separate counts are not 
in agreement during the count process and the discrepancy cannot be 
resolved immediately, the count must be suspended until a third count 
team member is present to manually complete the count as set forth in 
subsection (1) of this section until the currency counter is fixed; 
and

(ii) Displays the total bill count and total dollar amount for 
each drop box on a screen, which must be recorded by surveillance.

(b) Immediately prior to the count, the count team must verify 
the accuracy of the currency counter with previously counted currency 
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for each denomination actually counted by the currency counter to en-
sure the counter is functioning properly. The test results must be re-
corded on the table games count documentation and signed by the two 
count team members performing the test; and

(c) The currency counter's display showing the total bill count 
and total dollar amount of each drop box must be recorded by surveil-
lance during the count; and

(d) The contents of drop boxes must not be combined before the 
count team separately counts and records the contents of each box; and

(e) As each drop box is placed on the count table, a count team 
member must announce the game, table number, and shift, if applicable, 
loudly enough to be heard by all persons present and be recorded by 
the audio recording equipment; and

(f) A count team member must empty the contents onto the count 
table; and

(g) Immediately after the contents are emptied onto the count ta-
ble, a count team member must display the inside of the drop box to 
the closed circuit television camera, and show it to the other count 
team member to confirm that all contents of the drop box have been re-
moved. A count team member must then lock the drop box and place it in 
the drop box storage area; and

(h) Count team member(s) must combine all currency into one stack 
and separate the contents of each drop box into separate stacks on the 
count table by denomination of coin and chips, by type of form, re-
cord, or document; and

(i) Count team members must place all of the currency from a drop 
box into the currency counter which will perform an aggregate count by 
denomination of all of the currency collected from the drop box; and

(j) One count team member must count each denomination of coin 
and chips separately and independently by placing coins of the same 
denomination on the count table in full view of the closed circuit 
television cameras, and the other count team member must observe and 
confirm the accuracy of the count orally or in writing; and

(k) As the contents of each drop box are counted, a member of the 
count team must record the total amount of coin, chips, and currency 
counted (the drop) on the master games report; and

(l) As the count is occurring, a surveillance employee must re-
cord in the surveillance log the currency counter accuracy information 
in (b) of this subsection, currency verification amount, total bill 
and dollar count of each drop box and the announcement by the count 
team of the combined dollar count of all drop boxes; and

(m) If a cage cashier has recorded the opener, closer, fill 
slips, and credit slips on the master game report before the count, a 
count team member must compare the series numbers and totals recorded 
on the master game report to the fill slips, credit slips, and table 
inventory slips removed from the drop boxes, confirm the accuracy of 
the totals, and must record, by game and shift, the totals we require 
on the master game report. Otherwise, the count team must complete all 
required information on the master game report; and

(n) The accounting department may complete the win/loss portions 
of the master game report independently from the count team if this is 
properly documented in the approved internal controls.

[ 4 ] OTS-9903.3
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August 3, 2018

 
Dear Licensee,
 
We are seeking your feedback on a petition for rule change to the soft count procedures.  Earlier
this year, we received a petition for rule change to allow a house-banked card room to have two
people, instead of three, conduct the count if the licensee used an automated bill counter.  On
March 15, 2018, the Commissioners agreed to initiate rule-making. 
 
The proposed rules are attached.  The count requirements under the proposed rules would be
based on the house-banked card room’s gross gambling receipts in their previous license year.  A
summary of the proposed rule changes are as follows: 
 

Card Room
Gross

Gambling
Receipts in

the Previous
Fiscal Year

 
 
 

Rule Changes

 
Requirements for

the Currency
Counter Used with

a Two Person
Count Team

 
Changes to the

Count Process if a
Currency Counter

is Used with a
Two Person Count

Team

Number of
HBCRs Based

on 2016
Fiscal Year
Reporting

Information

Less than $5
million

·   Two person
count team
allowed with
approval.

·   The approval
process for a
two person
count team.

     
27
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Amended 
WAC 230-15-610   


Preparing to conduct a count. 


(1) House-banked card game licensees must assign licensed employees to conduct the count. 
The count team must be made up of three or more licensed employees. The count team must 
not include anyone who works in the surveillance department or whose duties included 
preparing, approving, or reviewing records used in that specific count process. Count team 
requirements are based on the licensee’s card room gross gambling receipts in their previous 
fiscal year: 


 
Card Room Gross Gambling Receipts Minimum Count Team Requirements 


Less than $5 million Two person count team  


$5 million to $15 million Three person count team or two person 
count team if a currency counter is used as 
outlined in this chapter.   


More than $15 million  Three person count team   


A new house-banked card room whose 
financial statements have not yet been 
submitted to us 


Three person count team   


 
(2) Prior to using a two person count team, the licensee must receive approval from the 


director or their designee.  The approval will be based on the licensee: 
(a) Meeting the card room gross gambling receipts requirements in their previous fiscal year; 


and 
(b) Having internal controls in place to prevent under-reporting and misappropriation of 


funds; and  
(c) Having demonstrated following their internal controls to prevent under-reporting and 


misappropriation of funds based on their administrative history; and  
(d) Having a currency counter, which complies with commission rules, and internal controls 


for the use of the currency counter. This applies for those licensees with card room gross 
gambling receipts of $5 million to $15 million. 


(3)Licensees must accurately count and record the contents of drop boxes to ensure the 
proper accountability of all gambling chips, coin, and currency. The count must be done at least 
once each gambling day. 


(43) If a cage cashier completes the opener, closer, fills, and credits portions of the master 
game report, the cashier sends the original master game report to the count team for completion. 
The cage cashier must immediately send a copy directly to the accounting department. 


(54) A count team member must notify the surveillance room observer that the count is about 
to begin. The surveillance employee must then observe the count as it occurs and make a video 
and audio recording of the entire count process.  


 







(65) Before opening drop boxes, the count team must lock the door to the count room. 
Licensees must permit no person to enter or leave the count room, except for a normal work 
break or an emergency, until the count team has completed the entire counting, recording, and 
verification process for the contents of drop boxes. 
 
[Statutory Authority: RCW 9.46.070. WSR 07-09-033 (Order 608), § 230-15-610, filed 4/10/07, effective 
1/1/08.] 
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Amended 


 


WAC 230-15-615 Conducting the count. 


(1) All house-banked card room licensees must have a three person count team except as set 
forth in subsection (2).  The three person count team must conduct the count as follows: 


(a) The contents of drop boxes must not be combined before the count team separately counts 
and records the contents of each box; and 


(b2) As each drop box is placed on the count table, a count team member must announce the 
game, table number, and shift, if applicable, loudly enough to be heard by all persons present and 
to be recorded by the audio recording equipment; and 


(c3) A count team member must empty the contents onto the count table; and 
(d4) Immediately after the contents are emptied onto the count table, a count team member 


must display the inside of the drop box to the closed circuit television camera, and show it to at 
least one other count team member to confirm that all contents of the drop box have been 
removed. A count team member must then lock the drop box and place it in the drop box storage 
area; and 


(e5) Count team member(s) must separate the contents of each drop box into separate stacks 
on the count table by denominations of coin, chips, and currency and by type of form, record, or 
document; and 


(f6) At least two count team members must count, either manually or mechanically, each 
denomination of coin, chips, and currency separately and independently. Count team members 
must place individual bills and coins of the same denomination on the count table in full view of 
the closed circuit television cameras, and at least one other count team member must observe and 
confirm the accuracy of the count orally or in writing; and 


(g7) As the contents of each drop box are counted, a member of the count team must record 
the total amount of coin, chips, and currency counted (the drop) on the master games report; and 


(h8) If a cage cashier has recorded the opener, closer, fill slips, and credit slips on the master 
game report before the count, a count team member must compare the series numbers and totals 
recorded on the master game report to the fill slips, credit slips, and table inventory slips 
removed from the drop boxes, confirm the accuracy of the totals, and must record, by game and 
shift, the totals we require on the master game report. Otherwise, the count team must complete 
all required information on the master game report; and 


(i9) The accounting department may complete the win/loss portions of the master game 
report independently from the count team if this is properly documented in the approved internal 
controls. 
 
(2) House-banked card room licensees may use a two person count team if their card game gross 
gambling receipts in their previous fiscal year were: 
(a)  Less than $5 million; or 
(b)  Between $5 million and $15 million and as part of the count process they use a currency 
counter that meets the following requirements:  


 (i) Automatically provides two separate counts of the funds at different stages in the count 
process.  If the separate counts are not in agreement during the count process and the discrepancy 
cannot be resolved immediately, the count must be suspended until a third count team member is 







present to manually complete the count as set forth in subsection (1) until the currency counter is 
fixed; and  


(ii) Display the total bill count and total dollar amount for each drop box on a screen that 
must be recorded by surveillance. 
(c)  The two person count team must conduct the count as follows: 
  (i) Immediately prior to the count, the count team must verify the accuracy of the 
currency counter with previously counted currency for each denomination actually counted by 
the currency counter to ensure the counter is functioning properly.  The test results must be 
recorded on the table games count documentation and signed by the two count team members 
performing the test; and 


(ii) The currency counter’s display showing the total bill count and total dollar amount of 
each drop box must be recorded by surveillance during the count; and  


(iii) The contents of drop boxes must not be combined before the count team separately 
counts and records the contents of each box; and 


(iv) As each drop box is placed on the count table, a count team member must announce 
the game, table number, and shift, if applicable, loudly enough to be heard by all persons present 
and to be recorded by the audio recording equipment; and 


(v) A count team member must empty the contents onto the count table; and 
(vi) Immediately after the contents are emptied onto the count table, a count team 


member must display the inside of the drop box to the closed circuit television camera, and show 
it to the  other count team member to confirm that all contents of the drop box have been 
removed. A count team member must then lock the drop box and place it in the drop box storage 
area; and 


(vii) Count team member(s) must combine all currency into one stack and separate the 
contents of each drop box into separate stacks on the count table by denomination of coin and 
chips, by type of form, record, or document; and 


(viii) Count team members must place all of the currency from a drop box into the 
currency counter which will perform an aggregate count by denomination of all of the currency 
collected from the drop box; and  


(ix) One count team member must count each denomination of coin and chips separately 
and independently.  Count team members must place coins of the same denomination on the 
count table in full view of the closed circuit television cameras, and the other count team 
member must observe and confirm the accuracy of the count orally or in writing; and 


(x)As the contents of each drop box are counted, a member of the count team must record 
the total amount of coin, chips, and currency counted (the drop) on the master games report; and 


(xi) A surveillance employee must record in the surveillance log the currency counter 
accuracy information in (2)(c)(i) above, currency verification amount, total bill and dollar count 
of each drop box and the combined dollar count of all drop boxes as the count is occurring; and  


(xii) If a cage cashier has recorded the opener, closer, fill slips, and credit slips on the 
master game report before the count, a count team member must compare the series numbers and 
totals recorded on the master game report to the fill slips, credit slips, and table inventory slips 
removed from the drop boxes, confirm the accuracy of the totals, and must record, by game and 
shift, the totals we require on the master game report. Otherwise, the count team must complete 
all required information on the master game report; and 







(xiii) The accounting department may complete the win/loss portions of the master game 
report independently from the count team if this is properly documented in the approved internal 
controls. 
 
[Statutory Authority: RCW 9.46.070. WSR 07-09-033 (Order 608), § 230-15-615, filed 4/10/07, effective 
1/1/08.] 
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		Amended

		WAC 230-15-610

		Preparing to conduct a count.

		(1) House-banked card game licensees must assign licensed employees to conduct the count. The count team must be made up of three or more licensed employees. The count team must not include anyone who works in the surveillance department or whose duti...

		Amended

		WAC 230-15-615 Conducting the count.

		(1) All house-banked card room licensees must have a three person count team except as set forth in subsection (2).  The three person count team must conduct the count as follows:










·   A surveillance
employee must
observe the
entire count
process as it
occurs.

Between $5
million and
$15 million

·   Two person
count team
allowed, with
approval, if a
currency
counter is used
as outlined in
the rule.

·    The approval
process for a
two person
count team.

·   A surveillance
employee must
observe the
entire count
process as it
occurs.

·   New
requirements
for currency
counters used
with a two
person count
team.

·   Changes to the
count process if
a currency
counter is used
with a two
person count
team.

·     Must
automatically
provide two
separate counts
of the funds at
different stages
in the count
process.

·     Display the
total bill count
and total dollar
amount for each
drop box on a
screen that must
be recorded by
surveillance.

·   Prior to each
count, the
accuracy of the
currency
counter must
be verified.

·   Able to
combine
currency from
a  drop box to
be counted by
currency
counter.

·   A surveillance
employee must
record in the
surveillance
log the
currency
verification
amount prior
to the count,
the total bill
and dollar
count of each
drop box and
the combined
dollar count of
all drop boxes
as the count is
occurring. 

 
21

More than
$15 million

·   A surveillance
employee must
observe the
entire count
process as it
occurs.

     
1

New HBCR ·    Must have a      



three member
count team until
the licensee
submits
financial
statements to us
indicating their
card room gross
gambling
receipts in their
previous license
year. 

 
Your feedback is important to us.  To submit your comments or questions, please send an email to
Tina.Griffin@wsgc.wa.gov or give me a call at 360-486-3546.  
 
We anticipate presenting these rule changes at the September Commission meeting for discussion
and possible filing.   Meeting information will be posted on our public meetings webpage about a
week prior to the meeting. 
 
Sincerely,

 
Tina Griffin
Assistant Director
Washington State Gambling Commission
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Tina,

We are in favor of these changes.   Thanks.

Phil Ziegler

From: DONOTREPLY (GMB) <donotreply@wsgc.wa.gov>
Sent: Friday, August 3, 2018 3:25 PM
To: Griffin, Tina (GMB)
Subject: Gambling Commission seeks comments on petition for rule change
 
 

 
 
 

 
August 3, 2018

 
Dear Licensee,
 
We are seeking your feedback on a petition for rule change to the soft count procedures. 
Earlier this year, we received a petition for rule change to allow a house-banked card room
to have two people, instead of three, conduct the count if the licensee used an automated
bill counter.  On March 15, 2018, the Commissioners agreed to initiate rule-making. 
 
The proposed rules are attached.  The count requirements under the proposed rules would
be based on the house-banked card room’s gross gambling receipts in their previous license
year.  A summary of the proposed rule changes are as follows: 
 

Card Room    Number of
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Gross
Gambling

Receipts in
the

Previous
Fiscal Year

 
 

Rule Changes

Requirements for
the Currency
Counter Used

with a Two
Person Count

Team

Changes to the
Count Process if

a Currency
Counter is Used

with a Two
Person Count

Team

HBCRs Based
on 2016

Fiscal Year
Reporting

Information

Less than
$5 million

·   Two person
count team
allowed with
approval.

·   The approval
process for a
two person
count team.

·   A surveillance
employee must
observe the
entire count
process as it
occurs.
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Between $5
million and
$15 million

·   Two person
count team
allowed, with
approval, if a
currency
counter is used
as outlined in
the rule.

·    The approval
process for a
two person
count team.

·   A surveillance
employee must
observe the
entire count
process as it
occurs.

·   New
requirements

·     Must
automatically
provide two
separate counts
of the funds at
different stages
in the count
process.

·     Display the
total bill count
and total dollar
amount for
each drop box
on a screen
that must be
recorded by
surveillance.

·   Prior to each
count, the
accuracy of
the currency
counter must
be verified.

·   Able to
combine
currency from
a  drop box to
be counted by
currency
counter.

·   A surveillance
employee
must record in
the
surveillance
log the
currency

 
21



for currency
counters used
with a two
person count
team.

·   Changes to the
count process if
a currency
counter is used
with a two
person count
team.

verification
amount prior
to the count,
the total bill
and dollar
count of each
drop box and
the combined
dollar count of
all drop boxes
as the count is
occurring. 

More than
$15 million

·   A surveillance
employee must
observe the
entire count
process as it
occurs.

   
1

New HBCR ·    Must have a
three member
count team
until the
licensee
submits
financial
statements to
us indicating
their card room
gross gambling
receipts in their
previous license
year. 

   

 
Your feedback is important to us.  To submit your comments or questions, please send an
email to Tina.Griffin@wsgc.wa.gov or give me a call at 360-486-3546.  
 
We anticipate presenting these rule changes at the September Commission meeting for
discussion and possible filing.   Meeting information will be posted on our public meetings
webpage about a week prior to the meeting. 
 
Sincerely,

mailto:Tina.Griffin@wsgc.wa.gov
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http://www.wsgc.wa.gov/agenda/meetings.aspx


 
Tina Griffin
Assistant Director
Washington State Gambling Commission
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STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
 
November 1, 2018 
 
 
TO:  COMMISSIONERS:  
  Bud Sizemore, Chair 
  Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 

Christopher Stearns 
Ed Troyer 
Alicia Levy 

 
FROM: Haylee P. Mills, Staff Attorney  
  Legal and Records Division 

 
SUBJECT:  Yen H. Trinh – CR 2016-01284, CR 2016-01569 
  Dung N. Huynh – CR 2016-01285, CR 2016-01570 
  Petition for Reconsideration Materials – November 15, 2018 Commission  
  Meeting 
 
 
The above-referenced licensees have companion cases and they both filed Petitions for 
Reconsideration of the Commission’s Final Order on Petition for Review affirming the revocation 
of the licensees’ card room employee licenses.  Enclosed in your Commission Meeting packet are 
the Petitions for Reconsideration filed by the Licensees’ attorney, Mr. Justin Jensen, and the 
Response to Petition for Reconsideration filed by assistant attorney general Greg Rosen, as well 
as copies of the Initial Order and Final Order on Petition for Review.  For reference, the complete 
case record, including audio recordings and transcripts of the administrative hearings, was 
previously provided to you via USB thumb drives prior to our September Commission Meeting. 
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WASHINGTON STATE 
GO,  OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

- 'AL 

MAY 06  2018 

~►_IANCE 
- d! 

In the matter of: 

Yen H. Trinh, 

Appellant/Licensee. 

License No. 68-21156 

Docket No. 06-2017-GMB-00024 

INITIAL ORDER 

Agency: Gambling Commission 
Program: Washington State Gambling 

Commission 
Agency No. 2016-01284 and 2016-01569 

For translation of this document, please call OAH, 253-476-6888. floi v&i ban dich 
c6a tai lieu nay, An vui long goi OAH, 253-476-6888. 

1. ISSUES 

1.1. Whether the Appellant/Licensee, Yen H. Trinh, between May 1, 2016 and 
May 6, 2016 and/or June 4, 2016 and June 20, 2016, engaged in cheating 
in violation of RCW 9.46.196 and/or a cheating conspiracy in violation of 
RCW 9.46.190? 

1.2. If so, whether her gambling license should be revoked in accordance with 
RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8),&(10) and WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) &(8)? 

2. ORDER SUMMARY 

2. 1. Yes. The Appellant/Licensee, Yen H. Trinh, in May 2016 and June 2016 engaged in 
cheating in violation of RCW 9.46.196 and in a cheating conspiracy in violation of 
RCW 9.46.190. 

2.2. Affirmed. Yen H. Trinh's gambling license is revoked in accordance 
with RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8) &(10) and WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) &(8). 

3. HEARING 

3.1. Hearing Dates: January 23, 2018 and January 24, 2018 

3.2. Appellant: Yen Trinh (`Appellant') 

3.2.1. Representative: Justin R. Jensen, Attorney 

3.2.2. Witnesses: Dung Huynh, Appellant's spouse 

[Continued] 
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3.3. Agency: Gambling Commission Board Staff (`GMB') 

3.3.1. Representative: Gregory J. Rosen, Senior Counsel 

3.3.2. Witnesses: Jess Lohse, Gambling Commission Special Agent 

Keith Wittmers, Gambling Commission Special Agent 

Gregory Means, Macau Casino General Manager 

James Hosier, Freddie's Casino General Manager 

3.4. Exhibits: GMB's Exhibits 1 through 11 were admitted. 

Appellant's Exhibit A was admitted. 

3.5. Interpreter Services: Khanh Nguyen, Four Corners Court Services 

3.6. Observers: Huynh Mason, Dung Huynh's son 

3.7. Consolidation: For purposes of the evidentiary hearing, the cases of 
Dung N. Huynh (OAH No. 06-2017-GMB-00023) and 
Yen H. Trinh (OAH No. 06-2017-GMB-00024) were 
heard at the same time. 

4. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The undersigned administrative law judge finds the following facts 
by a `preponderance of the evidence': 

Jurisdiction 

4.1.On March 8, 2017, the Washington State Gambling Commission (`GMB') 
filed a `Notice of Administrative Charges' against Yen H. Trinh (`Appellant'). 

4.2.On March 27, 2017, Ms. Trinh, represented by Justin R. Jensen, attorney, filed 
a `Request for Administrative Hearing and Interpreter' with the Washington Gambling 
Commission. 

Macau Casino Cheating 

4.3.On June 17, 2016, Gregory Means (`Means'), General Manager of the Macau 
Casino, contacted Washington State Gambling Commission Special Agent 
Jess Lohse, regarding possible cheating going on at the casino. Testimony of 
Gregory Means (hereinafter `Testimony of Means) and Testimony of Jess Lohse 
(hereinafter `Testimony of Lohse). 

4.4. Means told Special Agent Lohse he believed several people, including Dung Huynh 
and his spouse, Yen Trinh, Thachly Heng, Loan Phan, and Bao-Anh Nguyen-Do, 
were involved in a scheme to cheat the casino in the game of mini-baccarat. 
Testimony of Means. 
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4.5. In mini-baccarat, two hands of cards are dealt: one to the `Player' and the other to 
the `Banker'. Players do not hold their own individual hands. Rather, players bet for 
either the `Player' or the `Banker' to come closer to nine or to tie (which is the least 
common of the three, possible outcomes). Testimony of Jess Lohse (hereinafter 
`Testimony of Lohse) and Exhibits (`Exs.) 2 & 3. 

4.6. In mini-baccarat, the players place their bets prior to any cards being dealt 
to the `Player' and the `Banker'. However, a player can place an `early bet', prior to 
the cards being dealt, to have all of the cards dealt `face down'. Testimony of Means 
and Exs. 2 & 3. 

4.7. Under the `face down' method, Means believed a person sitting in a particular seat 
at the table known as `third base' or `seat 9' position could see the value of the cards, 
when dealt face down, if the cards were lifted high enough off of the table to be 
`exposed' or `flashed'. Testimony of Means. 

4.8. Means, after watching video footage, determined Huynh, Trinh, and several others 
were working in concert with the person sitting at `third baseTseat 9' position, 
who was relaying to the others how to bet, after seeing the `exposedTflashed' cards. 
The person in the `third base' position would place his bet and the others, including 
Huynh and Trinh, would follow his bet. Testimony of Means. 

4.9. Over the three-month period when cheating was suspected, the Macau Casino lost 
over $750,000 on mini-baccarat gaming. Testimony of Means. 

4.10. Means also noted that certain dealers, later determined to be exposing cards, 
received significantly higher tips than normal. Means determined the high tips were 
likely the result of players winning more often, resulting in more frequent tipping of 
their card dealers. Testimony of Means. 

4.11. Means had observed Huynh and Trinh, both card dealers at the casino since 2011, 
repeatedly call in sick to work, but show up to play mini-baccarat with Heng and 
several other people who were suspected of cheating. Testimony of Means. 

4.12. Means observed card dealer Chandara Loeur (hereinafter `Loeur') intentionally 
expose cards, by lifting the edge of each card as she dealt them, while Huynh, 
Trinh and Heng were playing at the table. She did not expose cards when the three 
were not playing. Testimony of Means. 

4.13. Means observed Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and several other players follow Louer as 
she moved from one table to another, during her regular card dealing rotation. 
Testimony of Means. 

4.14. When later confronted by Means and the Gambling Commission, Loeur admitted to 
intentionally exposing cards to players, as part of a cheating scheme. Her card 
dealer license was subsequently revoked. Testimony of Lohse and Ex. 5. 
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4.15. Means reviewed additional video footage of Huynh, Trinh, and Heng playing 
mini-baccarat. He noticed the three, along with several other people, follow another 
card dealer, Teresa Li, from table to table. Lee appeared to be inadvertently 
exposing cards to players when dealing. Testimony of Means. 

4.16. The lifting up of any portion of a `face down' card from off of the table as it is being 
dealt is considered `bad dealing', since it exposes the card values to players sitting 
at the table. Testimony of Means. 

4.17. Means, a professional card counter and experienced mini-baccarat card dealer, 
in reviewing video footage, observed Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and several other players 
`bet late', meaning they would place their bets after the cards had been dealt and 
exposed cards had been shown. Testimony of Means. 

4.18. In mini-baccarat, it is not uncommon for players to place the same, or similar, bets. 
However, in reviewing video footage, Means observed Huynh and Trinh almost 
always followed the betting pattern of the player (Heng) at `third base' or `seat 9', 
who could directly observe the `exposed' cards as they were being dealt from 
the shoe (card deck). Testimony of Means. 

4.19. Means recalled in June 2016, Trinh and Heng came into the casino together and 
asked to speak to Means. Trinh and Heng requested Means to tell the floor 
supervisors not to stand near the mini-baccarat tables while they were playing since 
it was `unlucky'. Trinh and Heng then left the casino together. Means believes Trinh 
and Heng's request was to prevent casino personnel from observing the cheating 
by the group of players. Testimony of Means. 

4.20. Mean noted that prior to 2016, Huynh usually didn't bet, but rather watched his 
spouse, Yen Trinh, gamble. However, in 2016, Huynh began aggressively betting 
and playing as much as his spouse. The amount of Trinh's wagers increased 
significantly in 2016 as well. Testimony of Means. 

Freddie's Casino Cheating 

4.21. Around the same time in June 2016, James Hosier (`Hosier'), General Manager of 
Freddie's Casino, contacted Washington State Gambling Commission Special Agent 
Keith Wittmer (`Wittmer') regarding possible cheating at the casino. Testimony of 
James Hosier (hereinafter `Testimony of Hosier) and Testimony of Keith Wittmer 
(hereinafter `Testimony of Wittmer) and Ex. 8. 

4.22. Hosier identified Dung Huynh, Yen Trinh, and Thachly Heng as involved in possible 
cheating at mini-baccarat. Testimony of Hosier and Ex. 8. 

[Continued] 
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4.23. During the period when cheating was suspected of going on, the casino lost over 
$35,000 in a three-day period, on May 1St, May 2nd and May 6t", 2016. While card 
dealer tips jumped from $200 per hour to $600, which usually doesn't change unless 
players are winning. Both the loss to the casino and the spike in tips at the mini-
baccarat gaming tables were `highly irregular' and raised an immediate suspicion of 
cheating by Hoiser, who had been a card dealer since 1980. Testimony of Hosier 
and Ex. 8. 

4.24. Hosier also observed on video any time there was a `natural nine' dealt 
(best possible outcome), after the cards had been exposed, Huynh, Trinh, and Heng 
bet `big' or the maximum bet allowed at the table. Testimony of Hosier and Ex. 8. 

4.25. Hosier reviewed video footage of mini-baccarat and observed `significant action' only 
after the cards had been dealt. This `significant action' included late bets 
and maximum bets by the players, when exposed cards were likely dealt. Testimony 
of Hosier and Ex. 8. 

4.26. Hosier provided eight days of video footage to Special Agent Wittmer of 
the Washington State Gambling Commission. The eight days included when Hosier 
believed Huynh, Trinh, Heng, among others, were engaged in cheating at the casino. 
Testimony of Hosier and Ex. 8 & 10. 

4.27. Hosier observed one dealer, Hongyan Chen, unintentionally exposing cards while 
Huynh, Trinh, and Heng were playing at her mini-baccarat table. Testimony of Hosier 
and Exs. 8 & 10. 

4.28. Hosier observed Huynh, Trinh, and Heng follow the card dealers, incuding Chen, 
who were exposing cards at their various tables, rather than staying at the same 
table. The activity of following a dealer was `highly irregular'. Testimony of Hosier. 

4.29. Hosier was familiar with Huynh, Trinh, and Heng, since Huynh and Trinh were both 
dealers at the Macau Casino. The three had never been `big players'. 
However, during the period of possible cheating, the three players were playing more 
frequently and winning significantly more than they had ever won before. 
Testimony of Hosier. 

4.30. Hosier observed Heng always sat at the `third base'Pseat 9' position, while Huynh 
and Trinh sat across the table from him, in seats 2 and 3. Huynh and Trinh always 
followed Heng's late wagers and never went against his bets. Testimony of Hosier 
and Ex. 8 & 10. 

[Continued] 

INITIAL ORDER OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 06-2017-GMB-00024 Page 5 of 18 

8500-SCP 



4.31. Hosier noted the players at the table, including Huynh and Trinh, took turns placing 
an early bet to ensure the cards were dealt `face down', to allow Heng to view the 
exposed cards and then place his bet. Huynh and Trinh would then follow Heng's 
bet. To Hosier, the taking of turns by players at the table to place an early bet to 
ensure the cards were dealt `face down', showed a conspiracy among the players. 
Testimony of Hosier. 

4.32. Hosier, a card dealer since 1980, had never seen everyone betting the same, 
including changing bets or taking bets back, based on the late bets of another player. 
Such a betting pattern was `incredibly suspicious'. Testimony of Hosier. 

4.33. After reviewing footage of the alleged cheating by Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and several 
others, based on his three decades as a card dealer, Hosier had 'no doubt' all of 
the players were involved in the cheating scheme. Testimony of Hosier. 

4.34. Washington State Gambling Commission Special Agent Keith Wittmer also reviewed 
the video footage from Freddie's Casino, provided by Hoiser. Wittmer was certain 
cards were being exposed and dealers, such as Huynh and Trinh, who were also 
experienced card dealers, would see it and take advantage of it. Testimony of 
Wittmer and Exs. 8, 9, & 10. 

4.35. In May and June 2016, during the period in question, both the Macau Casino and 
Freddie's Casino, both allowed players to place `late bets', meaning players could 
place bets after the cards had been dealt. However, casinos in the State of 
Washington no longer allow `late bets' due to the prevalence of cheating. 
Testimonies of Means and Hoiser. 

Gambling Commission Investigation 

4.36. On July 19, 2016, the Washington State Gambling Commission (`Gambling 
Commission) opened an investigation regarding a possible scheme to defraud 
Macau Casino in Tukwila, Washington and Freddie's Casino in Renton, Washington. 
Testimony of Lohse and Exhibit (`Ex.) 1. 

4.37. As a part of the Gambling Commission's investigation, Special Agent Lohse retained 
and reviewed over 100 hours of video, in which Specials Agents Means and Wittmer 
believed cheating by Huynh, Trinh, and Heng, and others was occurring. Testimony 
of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10. 

4.38. Special Agent Lohse reviewed 66 hands of mini-baccarat, during the period 
of June 4, 2016 to June 20, 2016, wherein Huynh, Trinh, Heng and other were 
playing. Of those 66 hands, 47 hands resulted in a `win' for the players, a 71 %-win 
rate for game with player odds of less than 50/50. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10. 
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4.39. In reviewing the video footage from the Macau Casino and Freddie's Casinos, 
Lohse determined card dealer Teresa Lee was lifting the edge of each card in order 
to slide the card across the table when dealing, thereby exposing cards to the player 
(Heng) in the third base/seat 9 position. After Heng saw the exposed cards and 
placing his bet, Huynh and Trinh would then follow suit. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10. 

4.40. At the hearing, Special Agent Lohse presented 20 video clips showing what 
he believed was cheating by Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and others at the Macau Casino. 
Exs. 4, 6, 7, & 10 

4.41. Special Agent Lohse noted Heng, followed by Huynh and Trinh, made large bets 
when cards were `flashed'/'exposed' by the card dealer. The three wouldn't bet when 
cards were not exposed. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.42. As experienced mini-baccarat card dealers, Huynh and Trinh could observe when 
cards were being exposed/flashed by the dealer. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.43. After reviewing the 100 hours of video from May and June 2016, Lohse determined 
card dealer Lee was lifting cards off of the table in order to deal them, 
thereby unintentionally exposing cards to the player at `third baseTseat 9' position. 
As a result, Lee was considered a `weak dealer' since she did not appear to be taking 
part in any scheme or arrangement to cheat the casino. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1,4,6,7,& 10. 

4.44. Special Agent Lohse noted Heng always took up the `third base'/`seat 9' position. 
He would then lean down in his seat, and observe the cards being lifted as they were 
dealt from the shoe (card deck). Based on seeing these exposed cards, Heng would 
then place a bet. Huynh and Trinh would then follow his wager. Testimony of Lohse 
and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.45. A critical part of the cheating scheme was placing a bet prior to the cards being dealt 
to ensure cards were dealt `face down'. If cards are not dealt `face down', 
then the scheme doesn't work since players would have to bet prior to any cards 
being dealt and possibly `exposed'. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.46. Huynh, Trinh, and other players took turns placing an early bet to ensure cards were 
dealt `face down', thereby allowing the `third base player' (Heng) to see the exposed 
cards as they were dealt. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

[Continued] 
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4.47. During several video clips, Huynh or Trinh would place an early bet to ensure 
the cards were dealt `face down'. He or she would then remove the wager, if it went 
against the `third base'/'Seat 9' player's (Heng) wager, who had seen the exposed 
cards and knew the outcome of the hand. Huynh or Trinh would remove their wager 
to prevent losing any money on the hand. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, 
& 10. 

4.48. During one of the video clips, an unknown player is sitting in the `third base'/'seat 9' 
position. No exposing of cards appears to be taking place. However, upon Heng's 
arrival, Heng asks the person to move to another seat at the table. At that point, 
with Heng in the `third base' /'seat 9' position, the exposing of cards by the dealer 
occurs with Huynh, Trinh, and Heng placing wagers accordingly. Testimony of Lohse 
and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.49. Lohse also noted that on at least one occasion, Trinh can be seen providing casino 
chips to Heng so he could gamble or else wager on her behalf. Testimony of Lohse 
and Exs. 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.50. Lohse also noted that on at least one occasion, Trinh can be seen on the video 
handing casino chips to another player under the table so a bet could be made for 
her, who had pulled her early bet back after seeing Heng bet the opposite of 
her early wager. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.51. Card dealers routinely move tables every half an hour. Huynh, Trinh, and Heng 
routinely followed the card dealer, often Teresa Lee, who was intentionally exposing 
cards to the `third baseTseat 9' position, and Hongyan Chen, who was 
unintentionally flashing cards. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.52. Huynh and Trinh, as well as other players, never bet opposite Heng, when he placed 
a late bet after seeing the exposed cards. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7,&10. 

4.53. Special Lohse could find no video footage of Huynh or Trinh initiating bets, 
before Heng had placed his bet. Only after cards were exposed and Heng bet, 
did Huynh and Trinh follow Heng's lead in betting. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.54. After it was discovered Chen was unintentionally exposing cards as she dealt, 
she was retrained by the casino, to ensure no further unintentional exposure of cards 
occurred. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.55. Special Agent Lohse noted people gamble in order to win. Player will often use any 
advantage that helps them to win. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.56. If players see the cards prior to placing a bet, then it is no longer gambling. 
It is cheating, since players already know the outcome of the hand. 
Testimony of Lohse. 
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4.57. Based on his training and experience, Special Agent Lohse had `no doubt' Huynh, 
Trinh, and Heng were cheating. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.58. The Appellant has never been accused of cheating prior to the present matter. 

Testimony of Huynh (Appellant's Spouse) 

4.59. Dung Huynh, the Appellant's spouse, has been a licensed card dealer in the State 
of Washington since 2005. Testimony of Dung Huynh (hereinafter `Testimony of 
Huynh). 

4.60. At the time of the period under investigation, Huynh was working as a licensed card 
dealer at the Macau Casino in Tukwila, Washington. Testimony of Huynh. 

4.61. Huynh was previously cited, in 2013, by the Washington State Gambling 
Commission, for failing to report tips received as a card dealer. Ex. 1; Page (`Pg.) 5. 

4.62. At the hearing, Huynh denied cheating, or ever discussing cheating with anyone. 
He denied observing the flashing or exposing of cards by other casino card dealers. 
When he gambled, he only followed "whoever was lucky". 
Testimony of Huynh. 

4.63. Huynh acknowledged seeing card being flashed by certain dealers, but "didn't know 
what it meant." Testimony of Huynh. 

4.64. Even if Huynh suspected the exposing of cards and/or cheating was going on, 
he never reported his suspicions to either his employer, the Macau Casino, 
or to Freddie's Casino staff. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.65. Huynh contends he only gambled when his wife (Trish) was losing. At all other times, 
he asserted he just slept at the gambling tables while she played. Testimony of 
Huynh. 

4.66. Huynh alleged he lost more money than he won during the period of time under 
review. However, he could provide no proof of his losses. Testimony of Huynh. 

4.67. Based on the Huynh's denial of cheating, a credibility finding is warranted regarding 
his testimony versus the testimony of the Gambling Commission Board Staff's 
witnesses. The undersigned administrative law judge does not find the Huynh's 
testimony credible for several reasons: (1) Huynh acknowledged in 2013 he failed to 
report the tips he received, an act of dishonesty; (2) He asserted that he did not 
gamble and usually just watched his spouse, Yen Trinh, or slept at the table. 
He asserted he only gambled when his spouse was losing, in order to cover their 
losses. However, review of the video evidence shows not only was he not sleeping 
or `just watching' Yen Trinh, he was actively engaged in wagering, often matching 
his spouse's aggressive betting at mini-baccarat while the alleged cheating was 
going on; (3) Huynh acknowledged he saw certain dealers exposing cards but `didn't 
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know what it meant'. The undersigned administrative law judge is skeptical a 
licensed card dealer with over 12 years' experience could recognize the exposing of 
cards but remain unclear what it meant; (4) Based on the video evidence, 
Huynh was working closely with his wife, Yen Trinh, in playing at certain mini-
baccarat tables where weak dealers or dealers intentionally flashing cards were 
working. Further, the Huynh moved from table to table, along with Trinh and Heng, 
who were also following those `weak' dealers or card dealers intentionally exposing 
cards; and (5) The undersigned administrative law judge is highly skeptical that 
Huynh never spoke with his spouse, Yen Trinh, about possible exposed cards by 
certain dealers. Further, it is highly questionable Huynh was not aware that his 
spouse and Heng approaching Macau management about not having supervisors 
near the table since it was `bad luck'; and (6) Finally, as an experienced dealer, 
Huynh would likely know when a successive of wins went beyond `mere luck' to 
something more along the lines of cheating. For these reasons, the undersigned 
administrative law judge does not find the Huynh's testimony credible. 

Testimony of Yen Trinh 

4.68. Yen Trinh has been a licensed card dealer in the State of Washington 
since 2005. Testimony of Yen Trinh (hereinafter `Testimony of Trinh'). 

4.69. At the time of the period under investigation, Trinh was working as a card dealer 
at the Macau Casino, along with her spouse, Dung Huynh. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.70. Trinh acknowledged in 2013 she was fined for failing to report income from tips. 
Testimony of Trinh. 

4.71. Trinh denied cheating or ever seeing any card dealer lifting cards, thereby exposing 
them to players at the table. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.72. Trinh contends she is `not a skilled gambler' and has lost more than she has ever 
won at gambling. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.73. Trinh denied being aware of how other players were betting at the table. 
Testimony of Trinh. 

4.74. She admits she is a gambling addict. At one point, she admitted she was over 
$100,000 in debt due to her excessive gambling. Testimony of Trinh and Ex. A. 

4.75. Trinh asserts she has spoken with Heng, but never about cheating and was not 
aware he was cheating. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.76. Trinh asserted it was `too risky' to cheat, so she doesn't do it. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.77. Trinh asserts she has never seen anyone cheat and would have reported it had 
she seen anything like it going on. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.78. Trinh denied being involved in any kind of conspiracy to cheat. Testimony of Trinh. 
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4.79. Trinh acknowledged playing with Heng at the Macau Casino and Freddie's Casinos, 
but denied ever speaking with Heng outside of the casino. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.80. Based on the Trinh's denial of cheating, a credibility finding is warranted regarding 
her testimony versus the testimony of the Gambling Commission Board Staff's 
witnesses. The undersigned administrative law judge does not find the Trinh's 
testimony credible for several reasons: (1) Trinh acknowledged failing to disclose tip 
income in 2013, an act of dishonesty; (2) Trinh denied ever speaking with Heng 
outside the casino. However, Macau Casino General Manager Gregory Means 
recalls in June 2016, Trinh and Heng came into the casino to ask him to tell 
the supervisors not to stand too close to the mini-baccarat tables when they were 
playing since it was `bad luck'. Heng and Trinh then left the casino together; 
(3) Trinh denies ever seeing anyone cheat or anyone exposing cards. 
However, in the video footage, the dealers can be seen exposing cards. It is hard to 
believe Trinh, a card dealer with over 14 years of experienced, was not aware of a 
card dealer lifting and exposing cards; (4) Trinh contends she never noticed Heng 
always sat at the `third baseTseat 9' position. However, Trinh always waited for 
Heng, in the `third baseTseat 9' position, to place his late bet before she mirrored 
his betting strategy. Further, she denied being aware of how other players were 
betting. Yet, she constantly mirrored Heng's betting pattern after he would place a 
late bet as well as followed Heng when he would move to follow a `weak dealer' or 
`exposing dealer' to another table. Trinh was aware of other people at the table and 
worked with others placing an early bet so the cards would be dealt `face down'; and 
(5) Trinh denied any conspiracy to cheat but came with Heng to ask that casino 
supervisors more away from their table when they were gambling which allowed 
them to cheat without being observed; (6) In addition, Trinh is also observed giving 
casino chips to Heng to gamble with, or else wager on her behalf. Further, at one 
point in the video footage, Trinh can be seen handing chips underneath the casino 
table to another player so he can place a bet for her, after she pulled her bet from 
the table since it was opposite Heng's late bet; and (7) Finally, Trinh acknowledged 
she has a gambling addiction and often owed people money due to her addiction, 
which adds greater motivation to win and earn money in order to pay off her debts. 
For these reasons, the undersigned administrative law judge does not find Trinh's 
testimony credible. 

[Continued] 
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5. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the facts above, the undersigned administrative law judge makes 
the following conclusions: 

Jurisdiction 

5.1. The Office of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the persons and subject 
matter of this case under Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 9.46.140(2)&(4); 
and Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 230-17-025 and chapters 34.05 
and 34.12 RCW. 

Burden of Proof 

5.2. RCW 9.46.153(1) requires licensees to prove their continuing eligibility 
for licensure: 

It shall be the affirmative responsibility of each applicant and licensee 
to establish by clear and convincing evidence the necessary qualifications 
for licensure of each person required to be qualified under this chapter, 
as well as the qualifications of the facility in which the licensed activity will be 
conducted[.] Emphasis Added. 

5.3. `Clear and convincing evidence', as that term is used in RCW 9.46.153(1), 
is a higher burden of proof than a `preponderance of the evidence'. 
See Hardee v. Department of Social and Health Services, 172 Wn.2d 1, 6-18, 
256 P.3d 339 (2011). 

Revocation of Card Room Gambling License 

5.4. RCW 9.46.075 is the Commission's legislative grant of authority to deny, suspend, 
or revoke gambling licenses or permits: 

The commission may deny an application, or suspend or revoke any license 
or permit issued by it, for any reason or reasons, it deems to be in the public 
interest. These reasons shall include, but not be limited to, cases wherein 
the applicant or licensee, or any person with any interest therein: 

(1) has violated, failed or refused to comply with the provisions, requirements, 
conditions, limitations or duties imposed by chapter 9.46 RCW and any 
amendments thereto, or any rules adopted by the commission pursuant 
thereto, or when a violation of any provision of chapter 9.46 RCW, or any 
commission rule, has occurred upon any premises occupied or operated by 
any such person or over which he or she has substantial control; 
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(2) Knowingly causes, aids, abets, or conspires with another to cause, any 
person to violate any of the laws of this state or the rules of the commission; 

(8) Fails to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that he, she or it is 
qualified in accordance with the provisions of this chapter; 

(10) Has pursued or is pursuing economic gain in an occupational manner or 
context which is in violation of the criminal or civil public policy of this state if 
such pursuit creates probable cause to believe that the participation of such 
person in gambling or related activities would be inimical to the proper 
operation of an authorized gambling or related activity in this state. For the 
purposes of this section, occupational manner or context shall be defined as 
the systematic planning, administration, management or execution of an 
activity for financial gain; 

RCW 9.46.075(1), (2), (8) & (10). 

5.5. Further, the Commission is also authorized by its administrative rules, specifically, 
WAC 230-03-085 to deny, suspend, or revoke an application, license, or permit: 

We [referring to the Commission] may deny, suspend, or revoke any 
application, license or permit, when the applicant, licensee, or anyone holding 
a substantial interest in the applicant's or licensee's business or organization: 

(1) Commits any act that constitutes grounds for denying, suspending, 
or revoking licenses or permits under RCW 9.46.075; or 

(3) Has demonstrated willful disregard for complying with ordinances, statutes, 
administrative rules, or court orders, whether at the local, state, or federal 
level; or 

(8) Poses a threat to the effective regulation of gambling, or creates or 
increases the likelihood of unfair or illegal practices, methods, and activities 
in the conduct of gambling activities, as demonstrated by: (a) Prior activities; 

WAC 230-03-085(l),(3) & (8). 
5.6. RCW 9.46.196 defines `cheating' as: 

(1) Employ or attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud 
any other participant or any operator; 

(2) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation as would operate 
'as a fraud or deceit upon any other participant or any operator; 
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(3) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation while participating in a 
gambling activity with the intent of cheating any other participant or the 
operator to gain an advantage in the game over the other participant or 
operator; or 

(4) Cause, aid, abet, or conspire with another person to cause any other 
person to violate subsections (1) through (3) of this section. 

5.7. RCW 9.46.190' Violations relating to fraud or deceit' establishes: 

Any person or association or organization operating any gambling activity who 
or which, directly or indirectly, shall in the course of such operation: 

(1) Employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; or 

(2) Make any untrue statement of a material fact, or omit to state a material 
fact necessary in order to make the statement made not misleading, 
in the light of the circumstances under which said statement is made; or 

(3) Engage in any act, practice or course of operation as would operate as a 
fraud or deceit upon any person; 

5.8. Finally, RCW 9A.28.040(1) `Criminal conspiracy' provides: 

(1) A person is guilty of criminal conspiracy when, with intent that conduct 
constituting a crime be performed, he or she agrees with one or more persons 
to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and any one of them 
takes a substantial step in pursuance of such agreement. 

5.9. At the hearing, the Appellant argued there is no direct evidence of cheating, 
that any evidence is purely circumstantial in nature. While the undersigned 
administrative law judge concedes no direct evidence, such as an admission or 
direct observation of cheating by the Appellant, the totality of the evidence provides 
little doubt the Appellant cheated and engaged in a cheating conspiracy 
in May and June of 2016. This `totality of evidence' includes: (1) The Appellant, 
along with her spouse and several other individuals, were under investigation for 
cheating by two, separate casinos at the same time; (2) The Appellant's win rate 
of over 70%, in a game in which the odds are less than 50/50, raises a high 
suspicion of cheating. Essentially, the Appellant, along with several others, were 
winning nearly three out of every four hands dealt, in a game that most people only 
win half of the time, at best; (3) The Gambling Commission Board Staff witnesses, 
experienced in card dealing and observing cheating, had `no doubt' that cheating 
was going by means of seeing `exposed' or `flashed' cards; (4) The Appellant 
having 12 years . of experience in card dealing likely saw cards being 
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exposed/flashed and took advantage of it; (5) The Appellant can be seen handing 
casino chips under the table to aother player to bet on her behalf, after pulling her 
wager since it wet opposite the bet made by Heng, who had seen the outcoe of 
the hand. This act of intentionally concealing the transfer of chips is highly 
suspicious of anything other than cheating; (6) Futher, the Appellant and heng wet 
into the Macau Casino in order to ask staff to not stand so close while they were 
playing, under the guise of `bad luck. However, asing staff to satnd back in order 
to allow the cheating to continue without detection is a more plausible reason for 
the request; (7) The Appellant's win rate went well beyond mere luck or a hot 
streak, since she won over 70% of the time she sat down at a mini-baccarat table; 
and (8) Finally, the Appellant admitted to a gabling addiction, thereby establishing 
a motive for cheating in order to pay off her debts. 

5.10. The undersigned administrative law judge is convinced and left with little to no 
doubt, the Appellant was aware of cards being flashed and took advantage of the 
scheme for her economic benefit of winning over 70% any time she placed a bet 
at mini-baccarat. Based on these facts, the Appellant cheated, as defined by 
RCW 9.46.196. Therefore, the Appellant, in May and June of 2016, violated 
RCW 9.46.190. 

5.11. The Appellant contends she had no knowledge of any conspiracy to cheat going 
on while he was gambling at mini-baccarat. The undersigned administrative law 
judge disagrees. As previously established, the Appellant, along with Heng, went 
into the Macau Casino together to ask casino staff to stand away while they 
gambled as it was `bad luck'. However, the two, working together, demonstrate a 
conspired plan to continue to cheat without detection. Further, she also placed 
early wagers, in concert with the other players, to ensure the cards were dealt `face 
down', in order to allow the exposing of cards to occur. The taking turns by the 
players, including the Appellant, demonstrates the players were working as a 
group to conduct the cheating scheme. 

5.12. Based on these facts, the undersigned administrative law judge is convinced 
the Appellant worked with her spouse, Huynh, and several other players to cheat 
at mini-baccarat thereby defrauding two casinos in May and June 2016. 
As a result, the Appellant engaged in a `criminal conspiracy', consistent with 
RCW 9A.28.040. 

5.13. Based on the above-cited `Findings of Fact' and `Conclusions of Law', 
the Appellant has failed to demonstrate by `clear and convincing evidence' that 
she is qualified for licensure, consistent with RCW 9.46.153(1). 
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5.14. As a result, the Appellant, Yen Trinh's gambling license is revoked 
in accordance with RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8), & (10) and 
WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) & (8). 

6. INITIAL ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

6.1. Yes. The Appellant/Licensee, Yen H. Trinh, in May 2016 and June 2016 engaged in 
cheating in violation of RCW 9.46.196 and in a cheating conspiracy in violation of 
RCW 9.46.190. 

6.2. Affirmed. Yen H. Trinh's gambling license is revoked in accordance with 
RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8),&(10) and WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) &(8). 

Issued from Tacoma, Washington on the date of mailing. 

TJ Martin 
Administrative Law Judge 
Office of Administrative Hearings 

CERTFICIATE OF SERVICE ATTACHED 
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PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Any party to this proceeding may file a Petition for Review of this initial order. 
The written petition for review must be mailed to the Washington State Gambling 
Commission at: 

Washington State Gambling Commission 
PO Box 42400 
Olympia, WA 98504 

The petition for review must be received by the Commission within twenty (20) days from 
the date this initial order was mailed to the parties. A copy of the petition for review must 
be sent to all parties of record. The petition for review must specify the portions of the 
initial order with which the party disagrees, and must refer to the evidence in the record 
which supports the party's position. The other party's reply must be received at the 
address above, and served on all parties of record, within thirty (30) days from the date 
the petition for review was mailed. 

Any party may file a cross appeal. Parties must file cross appeals with the Washington 
State Gambling Commission within ten days of the date the petition for review was filed 
with the Washington State Gambling Commission. Copies of the petition or cross appeal 
must be served on all other parties or their representatives at the time the petition or 
appeal is filed. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE FOR OAH DOCKET NO. 06-2017-GMB-00024 

I certify that true copies of this document were served from Tacoma, Washington via 
Consolidated Mail Services upon the following as indicated: 

❑x First Class Mail 

Yen H. Trinh ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

34703 30th Avenue SW ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 

Federal Way, WA 98023 ❑ Campus Mail 

Appellant ❑ Facsimile 
❑ E-mail 

Timothy T. Tran © First Class Mail 
Justin Jensen ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
Tran Law Group, PS ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 
787 Maynard Ave S. ❑ Campus Mail 
Seattle, WA 98104-2987 ❑ Facsimile 
Appellant Representative ❑ E-mail 

Gregory J. Rosen, AAG 
❑ First Class Mail Office of the Attorney General 
❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt MS: 40100 

1125 Washington St Se ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 

P.O. Box 40100 
❑x Campus Mail 

Olympia, WA 98504 ❑ Facsimile 

Agency Representative El E-mail 

Haylee Mills ❑ First Class Mail 
Washington State Gambling Commission ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
MS: 42400 ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 
P.O. Box 42400 ❑x Campus Mail 
Olympia, WA 98504 ❑ Facsimile 
Department Representative ❑ E-mail 

Date: Monday, May 07, 2018 
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

Ricci Frisk 
Legal Administrative Manager 

INITIAL ORDER OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 06-2017-GMB-00024 Page '18 of 18 

8500••SCP 









































A- L 

WASHINGTON STATE 
MAY 03  2018 

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS G( 
r°re srii `NCE 

In the matter of: 

Dung N. Huynh, 

Appellant/Licensee. 

License No. 68-21679 

Docket No. 06-2017-GMB-00023 

INITIAL ORDER 

Agency: Gambling Commission 
Program: Washington State Gambling 

Commission 
Agency Nos. 2016-01285 and 2016-01570 

For translation of this document, please call OAH, 253-476-6888. floi v&i b5n dich 
cua tai lieu nay, xin vui long goi OAH, 253-476-6888. 

1. ISSUES 

1.1. Whether the Appellant/Licensee, Dung N. Huynh, between May 1, 2016 and 
May 6, 2016 and/or June 4, 2016 and June 20, 2016, engaged in cheating 
in violation of RCW 9.46.196 and/or a cheating conspiracy in violation of 
RCW 9.46.190? 

1.2. If so, whether his gambling license should be revoked in accordance with 
RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8),&(10) and WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) &(8)? 

2. ORDER SUMMARY 

2. 1. Yes. The Appellant/Licensee, Dung N. Huynh, in May 2016 and June 2016 engaged 
in cheating in violation of RCW 9.46.196 and in a cheating conspiracy in violation of 
RCW 9.46.190. 

2.2. Affirmed. Dung N. Huynh's gambling license is revoked in accordance 
with RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8) &(10) and WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) &(8). 

3. HEARING 

3.1. Hearing Dates January 23, 2018 and January 24, 2018 

3.2. Appellant: Dung N. Huynh (`Appellant') 

3.2.1. Representative: Justin R. Jensen, Attorney 

3.2.2. Witnesses: Yen Trinh, Appellant's spouse 

[Continued] 
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3.3. Agency: Gambling Commission Board Staff (`GMB') 

3.3.1. Representative: Gregory J. Rosen, Senior Counsel 

3.3.2. Witnesses: Jess Lohse, Gambling Commission Special Agent 

Keith Wittmers, Gambling Commission Special Agent 

Gregory Means, Macau Casino General Manager 

James Hosier, Freddie's Casino General Manager 

3.4. Exhibits: GMB's Exhibits 1 through 11 were admitted. 

Appellant's Exhibit A was admitted. 

3.5. Interpreter Services: Khanh Nguyen, Four Corners Court Services 

3.6. Observers: Huynh Mason, Dung Huynh's son 

3.7. Consolidation: For purposes of the evidentiary hearing, the cases of 
Dung N. Huynh (OAH No. 06-2017-GMB-00023) and 
Yen H. Trinh (OAH No. 06-2017-GMB-00024) were 
heard at the same time. 

4. FINDINGS OF FACT 

The undersigned administrative law judge finds the following facts 
by a `preponderance of the evidence': 

Jurisdiction 

4.1.On March 8, 2017, the Washington State Gambling Commission (`GMB') 
filed a `Notice of Administrative Charges' against Dung N. Huynh (`Appellant'). 

4.2. On March 27, 2017, Mr. Huynh, represented by Justin R. Jensen, attorney, 
filed a `Request for Administrative Hearing and Interpreter' with the Washington 
Gambling Commission. 

Macau Casino Cheating 

4.3.On June 17, 2016, Gregory Means (`Means'), General Manager of the Macau 
Casino, contacted Washington State Gambling Commission Special Agent 
Jess Lohse, regarding possible cheating going on at the casino. Testimony of 
Gregory Means (hereinafter `Testimony of Means) and Testimony of Jess Lohse 
(hereinafter `Testimony of Lohse). 

4.4. Means told Special Agent Lohse he believed several people, including Dung Huynh 
and his spouse, Yen Trinh, Thachly Heng, Loan Phan and Bao-Anh Nguyen-Do, 
were involved in a scheme to cheat the casino in the game of mini-baccarat. 
Testimony of Means. . 
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4.5. In mini-baccarat, two hands of cards are dealt: one to the `Player' and the other to 
the `Banker'. Players do not hold their own individual hands. Rather, players bet for 
either the `Player' or the `Banker' to come closer to nine or to tie (which is the least 
common of the three, possible outcomes). Testimony of Jess Lohse (hereinafter 
`Testimony of Lohse) and Exhibits (`Exs. ) 2 & 3. 

4.6. In mini-baccarat, the players place their bets prior to any cards being dealt 
to the `Player' and the `Banker'. However, a player can place an `early bet', prior to 
the cards being dealt, to have all of the cards dealt `face down'. Testimony of Means 
and Exs. 2 & 3. 

4.7. Under the `face down' method, Means believed a person sitting in a particular seat 
at the table known as `third base' or `seat 9' position could see the value of the cards, 
when dealt face down, if the cards were lifted high enough off of the table to be 
`exposed' or `flashed'. Testimony of Means. 

4.8. Means, after watching video footage, determined Huynh, Trinh, and several others 
were working in concert with the person sitting at `third base'/`seat 9' position, 
who was relaying to the others how to bet, after seeing the `exposed'/`flashed' cards. 
The person in the `third base' position would place his bet and the others, including 
Huynh and Trinh, would follow his bet. Testimony of Means. 

4.9. Over the three-month period when cheating was suspected, the Macau Casino lost 
over $750,000 on mini-baccarat gaming. Testimony of Means. 

4.10. Means also noted that certain dealers, later determined to be exposing cards, 
received significantly higher tips than normal. Means determined the high tips were 
likely the result of players winning more often, resulting in more frequent tipping of 
their card dealers. Testimony of Means. 

4.11. Means had observed Huynh and Trinh, both card dealers at the casino since 2011, 
repeatedly call in sick to work, but show up to play mini-baccarat with Heng and 
several other people who were suspected of cheating. Testimony of Means. 

4.12. Means observed card dealer Chandara Loeur (hereinafter `Loeur') intentionally 
expose cards, by lifting the edge of each card as she dealt them, while Huynh, 
Trinh and Heng were playing at the table. She did not expose cards when the three 
were not playing. Testimony of Means. 

4.13. Means observed Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and several other players follow Louer as 
she moved from one table to another, during her regular card dealing rotation. 
Testimony of Means. 

4.14. When later confronted by Means and the Gambling Commission, Loeur admitted to 
intentionally exposing cards to players, as part of a cheating scheme. Her card 
dealer license was subsequently revoked. Testimony of Lohse and Ex. 5. 
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4.15. Means reviewed additional video footage of Huynh, Trinh, and _ Heng playing 
mini-baccarat. He noticed the three, along with several other people, follow another 
card dealer, Teresa Li, from table to table. Lee appeared to be inadvertently 
exposing cards to players when dealing. Testimony of Means. 

4.16. The lifting up of any portion of a `face down' card from off of the table as it is being 
dealt is considered `bad dealing', since it exposes the card values to players sitting 
at the table. Testimony of Means. 

4.17. Means, a professional card counter and experienced mini-baccarat card dealer, 
in reviewing video footage, observed Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and several other players 
`bet late', meaning they would place their bets after the cards had been dealt and 
exposed cards had been shown. Testimony of Means. 

4.18. In mini-baccarat, it is not uncommon for players to place the same, or similar, bets. 
However, in reviewing video footage, Means observed Huynh and Trinh almost 
always followed the betting pattern of the player (Heng) at `third base' or `seat 9', 
who could directly observe the `exposed' cards as they were being dealt from 
the shoe (card deck). Testimony of Means. 

4.19. Means recalled in June 2016, Trinh and Heng came into the casino together and 
asked to speak to Means. Trinh and Heng requested Means to tell the floor 
supervisors not to stand near the mini-baccarat tables while they were playing since 
it was `unlucky'. Trinh and Heng then left the casino together. Means believes Trinh 
and Heng's request was to prevent casino personnel from observing the cheating 
by the group of players. Testimony of Means. 

4.20. Mean noted that prior to 2016, Huynh usually didn't bet, but rather watched his 
spouse, Yen Trinh, gamble. However, in 2016, Huynh began aggressively betting 
and playing as much as his spouse. The amount of Trinh's wagers increased 
significantly in 2016 as well. Testimony of Means. 

Freddie's Casino Cheating 

4.21. Around the same time in June 2016, James Hosier (`Hosier'), General Manager of 
Freddie's Casino, contacted Washington State Gambling Commission Special Agent 
Keith Wittmer (`Wittmer') regarding possible cheating at the casino. Testimony of 
James Hosier (hereinafter `Testimony of Hosier) and Testimony of Keith Wittmer 
(hereinafter `Testimony of Wittmer) and Ex. 8. 

4.22. Hosier identified Dung Huynh, Yen Trinh, and Thachly Heng as involved in possible 
cheating at mini-baccarat. Testimony of Hosier and Ex. 8. 

[Continued] 
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4.23. During the period when cheating was suspected of going on, the casino lost over 
$35,000 in a three-day period, on May 1St, May 2nd  and May 6th, 2016. While card 
dealer tips jumped from $200 per hour to $600, which usually doesn't change unless 
players are winning. Both the loss to the casino and the spike in tips at the mini-
baccarat gaming tables were `highly irregular' and raised an immediate suspicion of 
cheating by Hoiser, who had been a card dealer since 1980. Testimony of Hosier 
and Ex. 8. 

4.24. Hosier also observed on video any time there was a `natural nine' dealt 
(best possible outcome), after the cards had been exposed, Huynh, Trinh, and Heng 
bet `big' or the maximum bet allowed at the table. Testimony of Hosier and Ex. 8. 

4.25. Hosier reviewed video footage of mini-baccarat and observed `significant action' only 
after the cards had been dealt. This `significant action' included late bets 
and maximum bets by the players, when exposed cards were likely dealt. Testimony 
of Hosier and Ex. 8. 

4.26. Hosier provided eight days of video footage to Special Agent Wittmer of 
the Washington State Gambling Commission. The eight days included when Hosier 
believed Huynh, Trinh, Heng, among others, were engaged in cheating at the casino. 
Testimony of Hosier and Ex. 8 & 10. 

4.27. Hosier observed one dealer, Hongyan Chen, unintentionally exposing cards while 
Huynh, Trinh, and Heng were playing at her mini-baccarat table. Testimony of Hosier 
and Exs. 8 & 10. 

4.28. Hosier observed Huynh, Trinh, and Heng follow the card dealers, incuding Chen, 
who were exposing cards at their various tables, rather than staying at the same 
table. The activity of following a dealer was `highly irregular'. Testimony of Hosier. 

4.29. Hosier was familiar with Huynh, Trinh, and Heng, since Huynh and Trinh were both 
dealers at the Macau Casino. The three had never been `big players'. 
However, during the period of possible cheating, the three players were playing more 
frequently and winning significantly more than they had ever won before. 
Testimony of Hosier. 

4.30. Hosier observed Heng always sat at the `third baseTseat 9' position, while Huynh 
and Trinh sat across the table from him, in seats 2 and 3. Huynh and Trinh always 
followed Heng's late wagers and never went against his bets. Testimony of Hosier 
and Ex. 8 & 10. 

[Continued] 
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4.31. Hosier noted the players at the table, including Huynh and Trihn, took turns placing 
an early bet to ensure the cards were dealt `face down', to allow Heng to view the 
exposed cards and then place his bet. Huynh and Trinh would then follow Heng's 
bet. To Hosier, the taking of turns by players at the table to place an early bet to 
ensure the cards were dealt `face down', showed a conspiracy among the players. 
Testimony of Hosier. 

4.32. Hosier, a card dealer since 1980, had never seen everyone betting the same, 
including changing bets or taking bets back, based on the late bets of another player. 
Such a betting pattern was `incredibly suspicious'. Testimony of Hosier. 

4.33. After reviewing footage of the alleged cheating by Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and several 
others, based on his three decades as a card dealer, Hosier had `no doubt' all of 
the players were involved in the cheating scheme. Testimony of Hosier. 

4.34. Washington State Gambling Commission Special Agent Keith Wittmer also reviewed 
the video footage from Freddie's Casino, provided by Hoiser. Wittmer was certain 
cards were being exposed and dealers, such as Huynh and Trinh, who were also 
experienced card dealers, would see it and take advantage of it. Testimony of 
Wittmer and Exs. 8, 9, & 10. 

4.35. In May and June 2016, during the period in question, both the Macau Casino and 
Freddie's Casino, both allowed players to place `late bets', meaning players could 
place bets after the cards had been dealt. However, casinos in the State of 
Washington no longer allow `late bets' due to the prevalence of cheating. 
Testimonies of Means and Hoiser. 

Gambling Commission Investigation 

4.36. On July 19, 2016, the Washington State Gambling Commission (`Gambling 
Commission') opened an investigation regarding a possible scheme to defraud 
Macau Casino in Tukwila, Washington and Freddie's Casino in Renton, Washington. 
Testimony of Lohse and Exhibit (`Ex.) 1. 

4.37. As a part of the Gambling Commission's investigation, Special Agent Lohse retained 
and reviewed over 100 hours of video, in which Specials Agents Means and Wittmer 
believed cheating by Huynh, Trinh, and Heng, and others was occurring. Testimony 
of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10. 

4.38. Special Agent Lohse reviewed 66 hands of mini-baccarat, during the period 
of June 4, 2016 to June 20, 2016, wherein Huynh, Trinh, Heng and other were 
playing. Of those 66 hands, 47 hands resulted in a `win' for the players, a 71 %-win 
rate for game with player odds of less than 50/50. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10. 
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4.39. In reviewing the video footage from the Macau Casino and Freddie's Casinos, 
Lohse determined card dealer Teresa Lee was lifting the edge of each card in order 
to slide the card across the table when dealing, thereby exposing cards to the player 
(Heng) in the third base/seat 9 position. After Heng saw the exposed cards and 
placing his bet, Huynh and Trinh would then follow suit. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7 & 10. 

4.40. At the hearing, Special Agent Lohse presented 20 video clips showing what 
he believed was cheating by Huynh, Trinh, Heng, and others at the Macau Casino. 
Exs.4,6,7,& 10 

4.41. Special Agent Lohse noted Heng, followed by Huynh and Trinh, made large bets 
when cards were `flashed'/'exposed' by the card dealer. The three wouldn't bet when 
cards were not exposed. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, ,6, 7, & 10. 

4.42. As experienced mini-baccarat card dealers, Huynh and Trinh could observe when 
cards were being exposed/flashed by the dealer. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.43. After reviewing the 100 hours of video from May and June 2016, Lohse determined 
card dealer Lee was lifting cards off of the table in order to deal them, 
thereby unintentionally exposing cards to the player at `third baseTseat 9' position. 
As a result, Lee was considered a `weak dealer' since she did not appear to be taking 
part in any scheme or arrangement to cheat the casino. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7,&10. 

4.44. Special Agent Lohse noted Heng always took up the `third base'/`seat 9' position. 
He would then lean down in his seat, and observe the cards being lifted as they were 
dealt from the shoe (card deck). Based on seeing these exposed cards, Heng would 
then place a bet. Huynh and Trinh would then follow his wager. Testimony of Lohse 
and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7,&10. 

4.45. A critical part of the cheating scheme was placing a bet prior to the cards being dealt 
to ensure cards were dealt `face down'. If cards are not dealt `face down', 
then the scheme doesn't work since players would have to bet prior to any cards 
being dealt and possibly `exposed'. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.46. Huynh, Trinh, and other players took turns placing an early bet to ensure cards were 
dealt `face down', thereby allowing the `third base player' (Heng) to see the exposed 
cards as they were dealt. Testimony of Lohse and Exs: 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

[Continued] 
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4.47. During several video clips, Huynh or Trinh would place an early bet to ensure 
the cards were dealt `face down'. He or she would then remove the wager, if it went 
against the `third base'/'Seat 9' player's (Heng) wager, who had seen the exposed 
cards and knew the outcome of the hand. Huynh or Trinh would remove their wager 
to prevent losing any money on the hand. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, 
& 10. 

4.48. During one of the video clips, an unknown player is sitting in the `third base'/'seat 9' 
position. No exposing of cards appears to be taking place. However, upon Heng's 
arrival, Heng asks the person to move to another seat at the table. At that point, 
with Heng in the `third base'/'seat 9' position, the exposing of cards by the dealer 
occurs with Huynh, Trinh, and Heng placing wagers accordingly. Testimony of Lohse 
and Exs. 1,4,6,7,& 10. 

4.49. Lohse also noted that on at least one occasion, Trinh can be seen providing casino 
chips to Heng so he could gamble or else wager on her behalf. Testimony of Lohse 
and Exs. 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.50. Lohse also noted that on at least one occasion, Trinh can be seen on the video 
handing casino chips to another player under the table so a bet could be made for 
her, who had pulled her early bet back after seeing Heng bet the opposite of 
her early wager. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.51. Card dealers routinely move tables every half an hour. Huynh, Trinh, and Heng 
routinely followed the card dealer, often Teresa Lee, who was intentionally exposing 
cards to the `third baseTseat 9' position, and Hongyan Chen, who was 
unintentionally flashing cards. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.52. Huynh and Trinh, as well as other players, never bet opposite Heng, when he placed 
a late bet after seeing the exposed cards. Testimony of Lohse and 
Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.53. Special Lohse could find no video footage of Huynh or Trinh initiating bets, 
before Heng had placed his bet. Only after cards were exposed and Heng bet, 
did Huynh and Trinh follow Heng's lead in betting. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.54. After it was discovered Chen was unintentionally exposing cards as she dealt, 
she was retrained by the casino, to ensure no further unintentional exposure of cards 
occurred. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.55. Special Agent Lohse noted people gamble in order to win. Player will often use any 
advantage that helps them to win. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.56. If players see the cards prior to placing a bet, then it is no longer gambling. 
It is cheating, since players already know the outcome of the hand. 
Testimony of Lohse. 
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4.57. Based on his training and experience, Special Agent Lohse had 'no doubt' Huynh, 
Trinh, and Heng were cheating. Testimony of Lohse and Exs. 1, 4, 6, 7, & 10. 

4.58. The Appellant has never been accused of cheating prior to the present matter. 

Testimony of Yen Trinh (Appellant's Spouse) 

4.59. Yen Trinh has been a licensed card dealer in the State of Washington 
since 2005. Testimony of Yen Trinh (hereinafter `Testimony of Trinh'). 

4.60. At the time of the period under investigation, Trinh was working as a card dealer 
at the Macau Casino, along with her spouse, Dung Huynh. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.61. Trinh acknowledged in 2013 she was fined for failing to report income from tips. 
Testimony of Trinh. 

4.62. Trinh denied cheating or ever seeing any card dealer lifting cards, thereby exposing 
them to players at the table. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.63. Trinh contends she is `not a skilled gambler' and has lost more than she has ever 
won at gambling. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.64. Trinh denied being aware of how other players were betting at the table. 
Testimony of Trinh. 

4.65. She admits she is a gambling addict. At one point, she admitted she was over 
$100,000 in debt due to her excessive gambling. Testimony of Trinh and Ex. A. 

4.66. Trinh asserts she has spoken with Heng, but never about cheating and was not 
aware he was cheating. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.67. Trinh asserted it was `too risky' to cheat, so she doesn't do it. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.68. Trinh asserts she has never seen anyone cheat and would have reported it had 
she seen anything like it going on. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.69. Trinh denied being involved in any kind of conspiracy to cheat. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.70. Trinh acknowledged playing with Heng at the Macau Casino and Freddie's Casinos, 
but denied ever speaking with Heng outside of the casino. Testimony of Trinh. 

4.71. Based on the Trinh's denial of cheating, a credibility finding is warranted regarding 
her testimony versus the testimony of the Gambling Commission Board Staff's 
witnesses. The undersigned administrative law judge does not find the Trinh's 
testimony credible for several reasons: (1) Trinh acknowledged failing to disclose tip 
income in 2013, an act of dishonesty; (2) Trinh denied ever speaking with Heng 
outside the casino. However, Macau Casino General Manager Gregory Means 
recalls in June 2016, Trinh and Heng came into the casino to ask him to tell 
the supervisors not to stand too close to the mini-baccarat tables when they were 
playing since it was `bad luck'. Heng and Trinh then left the casino together; 

INITIAL ORDER OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 06-2017-GMB-00023 Page 9 of 18 

8500-SCP 



(3) Trinh denies ever seeing anyone cheat or anyone exposing cards. 
However, in the video footage, the dealers can be seen exposing cards. It is hard to 
believe Trinh, a card dealer with over 14 years of experienced, was not aware of a 
card dealer lifting and exposing cards; (4) Trinh contends she never noticed Heng 
always sat at the `third base'Pseat 9' position. However, Trinh always waited for 
Heng, in the `third base'Pseat 9' position, to place his late bet before she mirrored 
his betting strategy. Further, she denied being aware of how other players were 
betting. Yet, she constantly mirrored Heng's betting pattern after he would place a 
late bet as well as followed Heng when he would move to follow a `weak dealer' or 
`exposing dealer' to another table. Trinh was aware of other people at the table and 
worked with others placing an early bet so the cards would be dealt `face down'; and 
(5) Trinh denied any conspiracy to cheat but came with Heng to ask that casino 
supervisors more away from their table when they were gambling which allowed 
them to cheat without being observed; (6) In addition, Trinh is also observed giving 
casino chips to Heng to gamble with, or else wager on her behalf. Further, at one 
point in the video footage, Trinh can be seen handing chips underneath the casino 
table to another player so he can place a bet for her, after she pulled her bet from 
the table since it was opposite Heng's late bet; and (7) Finally, Trinh acknowledged 
she has a gambling addiction and often owed people money due to her addiction, 
which adds greater motivation to win and earn money in order to pay off her debts. 
For these reasons, the undersigned administrative law judge does not find Trinh's 
testimony credible. 

Testimony of Appellant Huynh 

4.72. The Appellant, Dung Huynh, has been a licensed card dealer in the State of 
Washington since 2005. Testimony of Dung Huynh (hereinafter `Testimony of 
Huynh). 

4.73. At the time of the period under investigation, the Appellant was working as a licensed 
card dealer at the Macau Casino in Tukwila, Washington. Testimony of Huynh. 

4.74. Huynh was previously cited, in 2013, by the Washington State Gambling 
Commission, for failing to report tips received as a card dealer. Ex. 1; Page (`Pg.) 5. 

4.75. At the hearing, the Appellant denied cheating, or ever discussing cheating with 
anyone. He denied observing the flashing or exposing of cards by other casino card 
dealers. When he gambled, he only followed "whoever was lucky". 
Testimony of Huynh. 

4.76. Huynh acknowledged seeing card being flashed by certain dealers, but "didn't know 
what it meant." Testimony of Huynh. 
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4.77. Even if Huynh suspected the exposing of cards and/or cheating was going on, 
he never reported his suspicions to either his employer, the Macau Casino, 
or to Freddie's Casino staff. Testimony of Lohse. 

4.78. The Appellant contends he only gambled when his wife (Trinh) was losing. 
At all other times, he asserted he just slept at the gambling tables while she played. 
Testimony of Huynh. 

4.79. The Appellant alleged he lost more money than he won during the period of time 
under review. However, he could provide no proof of his losses. Testimony of Huynh. 

4.80. Based on the Appellant's denial of cheating, a credibility finding is warranted 
regarding his testimony versus the testimony of the Gambling Commission Board 
Staff's witnesses. The undersigned administrative law judge does not find 
the Appellant's testimony credible for. several reasons: (1) The Appellant 
acknowledged in 2013 he failed to report the tips he received, an act of dishonesty; 
(2) The Appellant asserted that he did not gamble and usually just watched his 
spouse, Yen Trinh, or slept at the table. He asserted he only gambled when his 
spouse was losing, in order to cover their losses. However, review of the video 
evidence shows not only was the Appellant not sleeping or `just watching' Yen Trinh, 
he was actively engaged in wagering, often matching his spouse's aggressive 
betting at mini-baccarat while the alleged cheating was going on; 
(3) The Appellant acknowledged he saw certain dealers exposing cards but `didn't 
know what it meant'. The undersigned administrative law judge is skeptical a 
licensed card dealer with over 12 years' experience could recognize the exposing of 
cards but remain unclear what it meant; (4) Based on the video evidence, 
the Appellant was working closely with his wife, Yen Trinh, in playing at certain mini-
baccarat tables where weak dealers or dealers intentionally flashing cards were 
working. Further, the Appellant moved from table to table, along with Trinh and Heng, 
who were also following those 'weak' dealers or card dealers intentionally exposing 
cards; and (5) The undersigned administrative law judge is highly skeptical that the 
Appellant never spoke with his spouse, Yen Trinh, about possible exposed cards by 
certain dealers. Further, it is highly questionable the Appellant was not aware that 
his spouse and Heng approached Macau management about not having supervisors 
near the table since it was `bad luck'; and (6) Finally, as an experienced dealer, 
the Appellant would likely know when a successive of wins went beyond `mere luck' 
to something more along the lines of cheating. For these reasons, the undersigned 
administrative law judge does not find the Appellant's testimony credible. 

[Continued] 
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5. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the facts above, the undersigned administrative law judge makes 
the following conclusions: 

Jurisdiction 

5.1.The Office of Administrative Hearings has jurisdiction over the persons and subject 
matter of this case under Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 9.46.140(2)&(4), 
and Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 230-17-025 and chapters 34.05 
and 34.12 RCW. 

Burden of Proof 

5.2. RCW 9.46.153(1) requires licensees to prove their continuing eligibility 
for licensure: 

It shall be the affirmative responsibility of each applicant and licensee 
to establish by clear and convincing evidence the necessary qualifications 
for licensure of each person required to be qualified under this chapter, 
as well as the qualifications of the facility in which the licensed activity will be 
conducted[.] Emphasis Added. 

5.3. `Clear and convincing evidence', as that term is used in RCW 9.46.153(1), 
is a higher burden of proof than a `preponderance of the evidence'. 
See Hardee v. Department of Social and Health Services, 172 Wn.2d 1, 6-18, 
256 P.3d 339 (2011). 

Revocation of Card Room Gambling License 

5.4. RCW 9.46.075 is the Commission's legislative grant of authority to deny, suspend, 
or revoke gambling licenses or permits: 

The commission may deny an application, or suspend or revoke any license 
or permit issued by it, for any reason or reasons, it deems to be in the public 
interest. These reasons shall include, but not be limited to, cases wherein 
the applicant or licensee, or any person with any interest therein: 

(1) has violated, failed or refused to comply with the provisions, requirements, 
conditions, limitations or duties imposed by chapter 9.46 RCW and any 
amendments thereto, or any rules adopted by the commission pursuant 
thereto, or when a violation of any provision of chapter 9.46 RCW, or any 
commission rule, has occurred upon any premises occupied or operated by 
any such person or over which he or she has substantial control; 
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(2) Knowingly causes, aids, abets, or conspires with another to cause, any 
person to violate any of the laws of this state or the rules of the commission; 

(8) Fails to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that he, she or it is 
qualified in accordance with the provisions of this chapter; 

(10) Has pursued or is pursuing economic gain in an occupational manner or 
context which is in violation of the criminal or civil public policy of this state if 
such pursuit creates probable cause to believe that the participation of such 
person in gambling or related activities would be inimical to the proper 
operation of an authorized gambling or related activity in this state. For the 
purposes of this section, occupational manner or context shall be defined as 
the systematic planning, administration, management or execution of an 
activity for financial gain; 

RCW 9.46.075(1), (2), (8) & (10). 

5.5. Further, the Commission is also authorized by its administrative rules, specifically, 
WAC 230-03-085 to deny, suspend, or revoke an application, license, or permit: 

We [referring to the Commission] may deny, suspend, or revoke any 
application, license or permit, when the applicant, licensee, or anyone holding 
a substantial interest in the applicant's or licensee's business or organization: 

(1) Commits any act that constitutes grounds for denying, suspending, 
or revoking licenses or permits under RCW 9.46.075; or 

(3) Has demonstrated willful disregard for complying with ordinances, statutes, 
administrative rules, or court orders, whether at the local, state, or federal 
level; or 

(8) Poses a threat to the effective regulation of gambling, or creates or 
increases the likelihood of unfair or illegal practices, methods, and activities 
in the conduct of gambling activities, as demonstrated by: (a) Prior activities; 

WA  230-03-085(l),(3) & (8). 
5.6. RCW 9.46.196 defines `cheating' as: 

(1) Employ or attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud 
any other participant or any operator; 

(2) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation as would operate 
as a fraud or deceit upon any other participant or any operator; 
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(3) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation while participating in a 
gambling activity with the intent of cheating any other participant or the 
operator to gain an advantage in the game over the other participant or 
operator; or 

(4) Cause, aid, abet, or conspire with another person to cause any other 
person to violate subsections (1) through (3) of this section. 

5.7. RCW 9.46.190' Violations relating to fraud or deceit' establishes: 

Any person or association or organization operating any gambling activity who 
or which, directly or indirectly, shall in the course of such operation: 

(1) Employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud; or 

(2) Make any untrue statement of a material fact, or omit to state a material 
fact necessary in order to make the statement made not misleading, 
in the light of the circumstances under which said statement is made; or 

(3) Engage in any act, practice or course of operation as would operate as a 
fraud or deceit upon any person; 

5.8. Finally, RCW 9A.28.040(1) `Criminal conspiracy' provides: 

(1) A person is guilty of criminal conspiracy when, with intent that conduct 
constituting a crime be performed, he or she agrees with one or more persons 
to engage in or cause the performance of such conduct, and any one of them 
takes a substantial step in pursuance of such agreement. 

5.9. At the hearing, the Appellant argued there is no direct evidence of cheating, 
that any evidence is purely circumstantial in nature. While the undersigned 
administrative law judge concedes no direct evidence, such as an admission or 
direct observation of cheating by the Appellant, the totality of the evidence provides 
little doubt the Appellant cheated and engaged in a cheating conspiracy 
in May and June of 2016. This `totality of evidence' includes: (1) The Appellant, 
along with his spouse and several other individuals, were under investigation for 
cheating by two, separate casinos at the same time; (2) The Appellant's win rate 
of over 70%, in a game in which the odds are less than 50/50, raises a high 
suspicion of cheating. Essentially, the Appellant, along with several others, were 
winning nearly three out of every four hands dealt, in a game that most people only 
win half of the time, at best; (3) The Gambling Commission Board Staff witnesses, 
experienced in card dealing and observing cheating, had `no doubt' that cheating 
was going by means of seeing `exposed' or `flashed' cards; (4) The Appellant 
admitted to seeing cards being `flashed', but said he `didn't know what it meant', 
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despite having 12 years of experience in card dealing. The undersigned 
administrative law judge finds the Appellant's testimony not credible that he `didn't 
know what it meant', or took advantage of that knowledge; (5) Finally, 
the Appellant's win rate went well beyond mere luck or a hot streak, since he won 
over 70% of the time he sat down at a mini-baccarat table. 

5.10. The undersigned administrative law judge is convinced and left with little to no 
doubt, the Appellant was aware of cards being flashed and took advantage of the 
scheme for his economic benefit of winning over 70% any time he placed a bet at 
mini-baccarat. Based on these facts, the Appellant cheated, as defined by 
RCW 9.46.196. Therefore, the Appellant, in May and June of 2016, violated 
RCW 9.46.190. 

5.11. The Appellant contends he had no knowledge of any conspiracy to cheat going on 
while he was gambling at mini-baccarat. The undersigned administrative law judge 
disagrees. The Appellant testified he rarely gambled. Rather, he usually just 
watched his spouse, Yen Trinh, gamble or else he slept at the table. 
However, based on the video evidence, he not only played, but aggressive 
matched the wagering by his spouse, when the cheating was going on. Further, 
he also placed early wagers, in concert with the other players, to ensure the cards 
were dealt `face down', in order to allow the exposing of cards to occur. The taking 
turns by the players, including the Appellant, demonstrates the players were 
working as a group to conduct the cheating scheme. Finally, Thachly Heng and 
the Appellant's spouse, Yen Trinh, requested Macau Casino security staff to not 
stand so close to the mini-baccarat table, while they were `gambling'. The 
undersigned administrative law judge is skeptical the Appellant knew nothing about 
his spouse and fellow player, Heng, going to security with the request, which was 
just a guise to allow the cheating scheme to continue. 

5.12. Based on these facts, the undersigned administrative law judge is convinced 
the Appellant worked with his spouse and several other players to cheat at mini-
baccarat thereby defrauding two casinos in May and June 2016. As a result, 
the Appellant engaged in a `criminal conspiracy', consistent with 
RCW 9A.28.040. 

5.13. Based on the above-cited `Findings of Fact' and `Conclusions of Law', 
the Appellant has failed to demonstrate by `clear and convincing evidence' that 
he is qualified for licensure, consistent with RCW 9.46.153(1). 

5.14. As a result, the Appellant, Dung N. Huynh' gambling license is revoked 
in accordance with RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8), & (10) and 
WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) & (8). 
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6. INITIAL ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

6.1. Yes. The Appellant/Licensee, Dung N. Huynh, in May 2016 and June 2016 engaged 
in cheating in violation of RCW 9.46.196 and in a cheating conspiracy in violation of 
RCW 9.46.190. 

6.2. Affirmed. Dung N. Huynh's gambling license is revoked in accordance with 
RCW 9.46.075(1),(2),(8),&(10) and WAC 230-03-085(1),(3) &(8). 

Issued from Tacoma, Washington on the date of mailing. 

TJ Martin 
Administrative Law Judge 
Office of Administrative Hearings 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ATTACHED 
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PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Any party to this proceeding may file a Petition for Review of this initial order. 
The written petition for review must be mailed to the Washington State Gambling 
Commission at: 

Washington State Gambling Commission 
PO Box 42400 
Olympia, WA 98504 

The petition for review must be received by the Commission within twenty (20) days from 
the date this initial order was mailed to the parties. A copy of the petition for review must 
be sent to all parties of record. The petition for review must specify the portions of the 
initial order with which the party disagrees, and must refer to the evidence in the record 
which supports the party's position. The other party's reply must be received at the 
address above, and served on all parties of record, within thirty (30) days from the date 
the petition for review was mailed. 

Any party may file a cross appeal. Parties must file cross appeals with the Washington 
State Gambling Commission within ten days of the date the petition for review was filed 
with the Washington State Gambling Commission. Copies of the petition or cross appeal 
must be served on all other parties or their representatives at the time the petition or 
appeal is filed. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE FOR OAH DOCKET NO. 06-2017-GMB-00023 

I certify that true copies of this document were served from Tacoma, Washington via 
Consolidated Mail Services upon the following as indicated: 

0 First Class Mail 

Dung N. Huynh ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

34703 30th Avenue SW ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 

Federal Way, WA 98023 ❑ Campus Mail 

Appellant ❑ Facsimile 
❑ E-mail 

Justin Jensen FX1 First Class Mail 
Timothy Tran ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
Tran Law Group, PS ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 
787 Maynard Ave S. ❑ Campus Mail 
Seattle, WA 98104-2987 ❑ Facsimile 
Appellant Representative ❑ E-mail 

Gregory J. Rosen, AAG ❑ First Class Mail 
Office of the Attorney General ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
MS: 40100 ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 
PO Box 40100 N Campus Mail 
Olympia, WA 98504 ❑ Facsimile 
Agency Representative ❑ E-mail 

Haylee Mills, WSGC ❑ First Class Mail 

MS: 42400 ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

PO Box 42400 ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 

Olympia, WA 98504 ❑X Campus Mail 

Agency Representative ❑ Facsimile 
❑ E-mail 

Date: Monday, May 07, 2018 

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

Ricci Frisk 
Legal Administrative Manager 
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